Public Document Pack

AGENDA
NOTE: In the case of non-members, this agenda is for information only

Committee

- LICENSING COMMITTEE

Date & Time

-

WEDNESDAY, 13TH NOVEMBER, 2019
IMMEDIATELY FOLLOWING THE
COMMITTEE OF THE LICENSING
AUTHORITY

Venue

-

NORFOLK ROOM, THE CONFERENCE
SUITE, ELIZABETH HOUSE, DEREHAM

Members of the Committee requiring further information, or with specific questions,
are asked to raise these with the appropriate officer at least two working days before
the meeting. If the information requested is available, this will be provided, and
reported to Committee.
Members:
Councillor M. Chapman-Allen
(Chairman)
Mr K. Martin (Vice-Chairman)
Mr T. J. Ashby
Mr S Askew
Councillor C. Bowes
Mr R. F. W. Brame
Mr M. P. Brindle
Mr T. R. Carter

Mrs V. Dale
Mrs S. Dowling
Mr R.W. Duffield
Cllr T. Kiddell
Mrs L.H. Monument
Mr P. Morton
Miss T. Taylor

This meeting may be filmed, recorded or photographed by the public; however, anyone
who wishes to do so must inform the Chairman and ensure it is done in a nondisruptive and public manner. Please review the Council’s guidance on filming and
recording meetings available in the meeting room.
Democratic Services
Elizabeth House, Walpole Loke,
Dereham Norfolk, NR19 1EE
Date: Monday, 4 November 2019

Please ask for Julie Britton Telephone (01362) 656343
e-mail: Julie.britton@breckland.gov.uk

Licensing Committee
13 November 2019

PART A- ITEMS OPEN TO THE PUBLIC

Page(s)
herewith
1.

MINUTES

4-6

To confirm the Minutes of the meetings held on 27 March 2019.
2.

APOLOGIES
To receive apologies for absence.

3.

URGENT BUSINESS
To note whether the Chairman proposes to accept any item as urgent
business, pursuant to Section 100(B)(4)(b) of the Local Government Act,
1972.

4.

DECLARATION OF INTERESTS
The duties to register, disclose and not to participate for the entire
consideration of the matter, in respect of any matter in which a Member
has a disclosable pecuniary interest are set out in Chapter 7 of the
Localism Act 2011. Members are also required to withdraw from the
meeting room as stated in the Standing Orders of this Council.

5.

NON-MEMBERS WISHING TO ADDRESS THE MEETING
To note the names of any non-members who wish to address the
meeting.

6.

DRAFT TAXI LICENSING POLICY

Report of Donna Hall, the Licensing & Business Support Manager.
7.

NEXT MEETING

The date of the next meeting is Wednesday, 8 January 2020 at
10am in the Norfolk Room.

Please ask for Julie Britton Telephone (01362) 656343
e-mail: Julie.britton@breckland.gov.uk

7 - 99

Agenda Item 1

BRECKLAND COUNCIL
At a Meeting of the
LICENSING COMMITTEE
Held on Wednesday, 27 March 2019 at 10.00 am in
Norfolk Room, The Conference Suite, Elizabeth House, Dereham
PRESENT
Councillor M. Chapman-Allen
(Chairman)
Mr K. Martin (Vice-Chairman)
Mr R. F. W. Brame
Mr M. P. Brindle
Mr P. R. W. Darby
Mr R.W. Duffield

Mr K.S. Gilbert
Mrs J. Hollis
Mrs S.M. Matthews
Mrs L.H. Monument
Mr W. R. J. Richmond
Mr F.J. Sharpe

Also Present
Mr R. R. Richmond
In Attendance
Donna Hall
Josie Hoven
Lisa Turner
Julie Britton

-

Licensing & Business Support Manager
Licensing Officer
Assistant Licensing Officer
Democratic Services Officer
Action
By

1/19 MINUTES (AGENDA ITEM 1)
The Minutes of the meeting held on 21 November 2018 were confirmed as a
correct record and signed by the Chairman.
2/19 APOLOGIES (AGENDA ITEM 2)
An apology for absence was received from Councillor Bowes.
Members conveyed their best wishes to Councillor Bowes following a recent
operation.
3/19 URGENT BUSINESS (AGENDA ITEM 3)
None.
4/19 DECLARATION OF INTERESTS (AGENDA ITEM 4)
None.
5/19 NON-MEMBERS WISHING TO ADDRESS THE MEETING (AGENDA ITEM
5)
Councillor Robert Richmond was in attendance to observe the meeting.

1

4

Licensing Committee
27 March 2019
Action
By

6/19 DEPARTMENT FOR TRANSPORT TAXI LICENSING CONSULTATION
(AGENDA ITEM 6)
Donna Hall, the Licensing & Business Support Manager presented the report.
Breckland Council had a statutory duty to license taxis, private hire vehicles,
their drivers and operators.
The Department for Transport had issued and were currently consulting on
Statutory Guidance for Licensing Authorities. The Guidance addressed how
licensing authorities should use their powers to protect children and
vulnerable adults.
Members were asked to consider the draft Statutory Guidance and agree
consultation responses to submit to the Department for Transport. The
Committee’s response would result in shaping the draft Statutory Guidance
through the consultation process.
Appended to the report were the Taxi and Private Hire Licensing – Protecting
Users: Statutory Guidance for Licensing Authorities (consultation version) and
the consultation questions and response form.
The Licensing & Business Support Manager highlighted each question in turn
whilst referring to specific sections of the Statutory Guidance throughout and
Josie Hoven, the Licensing Officer also made reference to guidance issued by
James Button, a solicitor and legal expert in the field of taxi licensing.
The recommendations for questions 3 to 9, 11 to 26 and 28 to 29 were
agreed; however, for questions 10, 27, 30 and 31 the responses were as
follows:






Question 10 – the recommendation was irresolute as the Licensing
Authority did not make referrals direct to the DBS
Question 27 – no opinion was given
Question 30 - Members felt that the list did not provide enough detail
to aid consistency in the ‘fit and proper’ assessment for licences. It
was agreed that more detail should be provided as shown in the 2018
Institute of Licensing (IOL) Guidance
Question 31 – Members did not believe that they had the expertise to
determine if there were any additional offences that should be added
to the list in Annex A although it was suggested that further detail in
respect of cautions should be clarified.

Under each question, a comment box had been provided to allow for further
explanation. Under certain questions the following comments were added:
 Question 4 – Breckland Council, as the Licensing Authority, already
operated such a procedure
 Question 5 – although Members had agreed the recommendation –
that all issued licences should be reviewed following changes in
licensing policy (paragraph 2.29), it was felt that a pragmatic
approach should be taken in terms of timescales and decisions
 Question 11 – although Members had agreed with this
recommendation as the Licensing Team already had these checks in
place, Councillor Gilbert felt that these checks should be strengthened
2

5

Licensing Committee
27 March 2019
Action
By

 Question 13 – again it was felt that the guidance should be
strengthened so all licensing authorities had no choice but to use the
national register of taxi and PHV driver licence refusal and
revocations (NR3) to improve information sharing
 Question 14 – the recommendation had been agreed; however,
Members felt that applicants should be given the chance to explain
why they had an application refused, or had a licence revoked or
suspended elsewhere and have regard to the circumstances
 Question 16 – Members’ agreed that the guidance for passengers on
making complaints directly to the licensing authority should be
displayed in licensed vehicles but the guidance should be of a
minimum size and should be included on the website. It was felt that
a little more detail, as to where in the taxi the guidance should be
displayed, would be welcomed
 Question 24 – although Members’ had agreed to this recommendation,
it had been noted that Breckland Council, as per legislation, did not
licence vehicles with more than 8 seats
 Question 25 – this recommendation in terms of record keeping had
been agreed; however, Members asked that the date and time the
appointment took place should be added to the information under
paragraph 2.101
 Question 26 – it was felt that the cost and the reasoning for asking for
CCTV to be installed in taxis and PHVs should be considered, and
conditions and guidance would have to be issued if CCTV was in use
No further comments were put forward.
The Committee was also advised that specialist safeguarding training for taxi
drivers was being arranged to take place in April/May and would cover current
issues such as child sexual exploitation and county lines. The Committee
would be advised of these dates when confirmed.
The Chairman was pleased that Breckland Council as a Licensing Authority
was in this respect ahead of the game and paid credit to the Officers involved.
RESOLVED that the Licensing Committee’s responses (as listed above) be
submitted to the Department for Transport.
7/19 AOB
The Licensing & Business Support Manager provided Members with an
update on Animal Welfare.
The Licensing Team had worked hard and done a great job in re-licensing
every premise since the new regulations came into force. The next phase
included the licensing of exhibition animals which was new to this authority.
Members were given a flavour of the places that the Licensing Officer had
visited and the animals that she had seen.
The meeting closed at 11.45 am

CHAIRMAN

3

6

Agenda Item 6

BRECKLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL
Report of:

Shared Public Protection Manager

To:

Licensing Committee 13th November

Author:

Donna Hall, Licensing and Business Support Manager

Subject:

Draft Taxi Licensing Policy

Purpose:

The Committee are asked to consider the draft taxi licensing policy prior to
it being published for consultation

Recommendation:
1) That Licensing Committee consider the draft policy and recommend that it is published for
consultation
1.0

BACKGROUND

1.1

As a Licensing Authority we are entitled, but not required, to adopt a policy on taxi
licensing. The policy is viewed as being an integral part of the decision-making process
enabling consistency and transparency. It is there to guide the licensing authority but each
case must still be considered on its own merits.

1.2

The Council’s existing taxi licensing policy needs to be updated and the decision was
taken that the current format was no longer fit for purpose. Therefore a wholesale review
has taken place and a brand new policy has been drafted.

1.3

The Licensing Officer has conducted significant research on taxi licensing including
reviewing other Council’s policies, taxi licensing guidance and best practice from the trade.

1.4

The proposed policy has been drafted taking into account this information, however it must
be stressed that this is in draft form currently and a full public consultation should be
undertaken. It is essential that the trade and other interested parties have the opportunity to
fully consider and contribute to the new policy.

1.5

It is recommended that the draft policy is published for a full consultation for 12 weeks,
enabling plenty of time for the trade, general public and other interested parties to fully
consider the proposals and respond if needed. The Licensing Team will ensure that all
existing Operators and drivers are aware of the consultation and have the opportunity to
respond.

1.6

Following the consultation, officers will review all feedback received and return to
Committee with an amended draft policy as appropriate, for the committee to consider and
approve.

2.0

OPTIONS

2.1

Committee approve the proposed draft policy to go out to consultation

7

2.2
2.3

Committee recommend amendments to the draft policy before it goes out to consultation
Committee do nothing

3.0

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION

3.1

It is strongly recommended that a new taxi policy is adopted to ensure the Council
is up to date, transparent and consistent. It is also strongly recommended that a full
12 week consultation is undertaken to ensure that the taxi trade and other
interested parties have the opportunity to contribute.

4.0

EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1

The new policy takes into account legislation and best practice over a number of
areas including public safety and safeguarding, environmental standards,
equalities and many other factors.

4.2

Following consultation, it is anticipated that the Council will adopt a new robust
policy that will deliver on the above priorities. This should benefit the public, trade,
visitors to the area by setting standards for all drivers, vehicles and operators.

5.0

IMPLICATIONS
In preparing this report, the report author has considered the likely implications of the
decision - particularly in terms of Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues;
Constitutional & Legal; Contracts; Corporate Priorities; Crime & Disorder; Data Protection;
Equality & Diversity/Human Rights; Financial; Health & Wellbeing; Reputation; Risk
Management; Safeguarding; Staffing; Stakeholders/Consultation/Timescales; Other.
Where the report author considers that there may be implications under one or more of
these headings, these are identified below.

5.1

Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues
Environmental standards have been considered in the policy with a view to bringing
vehicles gradually into compliance with national standards for emissions. Information on
this can be found in Appendix A to the Policy.

5.2

Constitution & Legal
The legal team are aware and working alongside officers as part of this policy review.

5.3

Contracts
Service level agreements are in place with approved garages for vehicle checks, and these
will be consulted as part of the consultation.

5.4

Corporate Priorities
The taxi policy strongly links into the corporate priorities: Your Place; Your Health and
Wellbeing; Your Opportunity.

5.5

Crime and Disorder
Taxi licensing is governed by legislation which includes some criminal offences for illegal
activities. Criminal record checks through the Disclosure and Barring Service (DBS) are
also carried out as part of the driver and operator licensing procedure.

8

5.5

Data Protection
Data protection has been considered as part of this policy and a data impact assessment
has been carried out. Particular consideration has been given to the use of the Institute of
Licensing (IOL) National Register of Taxi Licence Refusals and Revocations which is
explained in Appendix N to the policy.

5.6

Equality and Diversity / Human Rights
The policy has been written to reflect equality and diversity and ensure that relevant
aspects of the Equalities Act are complied with by the trade. An equality impact assessment
has been carried out.

5.7

Safeguarding
The policy includes a robust approach to safeguarding including ongoing checks on drivers
and compulsory training.

5.8

Stakeholders / Consultation / Timescales

The draft policy will be published in the licensing section on the Council’s website
for the duration of the 12 week consultation. All licensed drivers and operators will
be contacted directly regarding the consultation along with other interested parties
such as the police, access groups and other organisations.
6.0

WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1

All

Background papers:-

Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Licensing: Best Practice Guidance,
Department for Transport, 2010
Guidance on determining the suitability of applicants and licensees in
the hackney carriage and private hire trades, Institute of Licensing,
April 2018

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post:
Telephone Number:
Email:

Donna Hall, Licensing and Business Support Manager
07866 810466
donna.hall@breckland-sholland.gov.uk

Key Decision:

No

Exempt Decision:

No

This report refers to a Mandatory Service
Appendices attached to this report:
Appendix A
DRAFT Taxi licensing policy and procedures

9

Contents
Section 1
Area
Introduction
Powers and Duties
Consultation and Revision
The Licensing Regime
Role of Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Trade and the difference
between them
Information Sharing
Decision making
Immigration Act
Passenger Transport
Complaints
Section 2
General Provisions for Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Vehicles
Vehicles General
Appearance
Advertising
Insurance
Safety Equipment
CCTV in licensed vehicles
Maintenance of vehicles
Vehicle Testing
Retesting of licensed vehicles
Accidents
Requirements to take additional tests
Unfit Vehicle Notices
Taximeters
Transfer of ownership of the vehicle
Accessibility of vehicles
Trailer, Roof and Bike Carriers
Funeral and Wedding Vehicles
Limousine and speciality vehicles
Carrying Children and Babies in Hackney Carriage and Private Hire
Vehicles
Private hire exemption to display licence plate etc.
Rights of Appeal
Cautionary Advice
Section 3
General Provisions for Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Drivers
Drivers General
Suitability of Drivers
English Language
Medical Requirements
Convictions, Cautions and related matters
Disclosure and Barring Service (DBS)
DBS Update service
DVLA
Wheelchair Assessment Training

10

Application Process
New Drivers Checklist
Renewal of Drivers Licences
Drivers Expectations
Exemption certificate
Assistance Dogs
Obligations of a Taxi Driver to Carry Disabled Persons using Wheelchairs
Drivers acting as a delivery driver or collecting deliveries
Complaints and Investigations
Hackney Carriage Drivers
Right of Appeal
Immediate Suspension/ Revocation
Section 4
General Provisions for Private Hire Operators
Application- Suitability of Applicant
Suitability of Premises
Operators Responsibilities and Obligations
Appendices
Appendix A
Vehicle Age and Emission Standards
Appendix B
Hackney Carriage Vehicle Conditions
Appendix C
Hackney Carriage Byelaws
Appendix D
Private Hire Vehicle Conditions
Appendix E
Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Drivers Conditions
Appendix F
Private Hire Operators Conditions
Appendix G
Limousine and Speciality Vehicle Conditions
Appendix H
Guidance on determining the suitability of applicants and licensees in the
hackney and private hire trades
Appendix I
Executive Vehicles
Appendix J
Hackney Carriage Stands
Appendix K
Approved Vehicle Testing Stations
Appendix L
CCTV specification
Appendix M
Safeguarding and Driver Training
Appendix N
National Register of Taxi Licence Refusals and Revocations (NR3)

11

Area
Breckland Council (the Council) is situated in the County of Norfolk, which contains seven
District Councils in total. The Breckland Council area has a population of 138,600. It covers
an area of 1,305 sq kilometres and is one of the largest rural districts in England.
The Council area has five main market towns which are Attleborough, Dereham, Swaffham,
Thetford and Watton. There are also 112 parishes in Breckland but the majority of the
population is centred around these five market towns.
Introduction
Hackney carriages (more generally known as taxis) and Private Hire vehicles play an
important part in public transport. They are used by all social groups.
The primary purpose of the Local Authority when licensing Hackney Carriage and Private Hire
vehicles, Operators and Drivers is to protect the public. The Council is aware that the public
should have reasonable access to safe and comfortable Hackney Carriage and Private Hire
vehicles because of the role they play in public transport provision.
A Hackney Carriage is a public transport vehicle with no more than 8 passenger seats, which
is licensed to ‘ply for hire’. This means that it may stand at designated taxi ranks or be hailed
in the street by members of the public. Private Hire vehicles must have no more than 8
passenger seats and must be booked in advance, through an operator, and may not ply for
hire in the street.
Local authorities are responsible for the licensing, administration and enforcement of Hackney
Carriage and Private Hire vehicles in their area.
Vehicles which accommodate more than eight passengers are classed as Public Service
Vehicles (PSV) and are not covered by the legislation or this policy. The council has no
involvement in the licensing of PSV’s, they are the responsibility of The Traffic Commissioner.
Powers and Duties
The Council has adopted part 2 of The Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act
1976. This legislation, together with the provisions of The Town and Police Clauses Act 1847,
gives the Council the powers and duties to carry out licensing functions in respect of Hackney
Carriage and Private Hire matters. The Council is, therefore, responsible for the licensing of
Hackney Carriages and their drivers together with Private Hire Operators, vehicles and their
drivers. This document sets out the policy that the Council will apply when making decisions
about Hackney Carriage and Private Hire matters. It is expected that licence applicants will
have read the conditions and policies prior to making an application for a licence. It is
expected that licence holders will comply with the conditions and policies at all times.
This policy does not override the legal requirements embodied in any primary or secondary
legislation in force at the time of adoption or as may be enacted after the adoption of this
policy. Where there are any subsequent changes made to the applicable legislation, or its
interpretation by the courts that conflict with this policy, the conflicting elements shall not apply
and will be amended at the earliest opportunity.
The licensing authority understands the importance and responsibility it has in ensuring that
licensed vehicles in the district are safe, comfortable, properly insured and available where
and when required, and that drivers are fit and proper to undertake the role. This policy and
the imposition of conditions found in the appendix documents are considered appropriate to
address all these aspects.

12

In exercising its discretion in carrying out regulatory functions, the council will have regard to
this policy and appendices.
In formulating this policy, consideration has been given to local circumstances and
requirements and the DfT best practice guidance March 2010.
Every decision, application and enforcement action will be considered on its own merits.
The council may depart from this policy if merited, but will provide clear and compelling
reasons for doing so.
This policy is not a comprehensive statement of the law, applicants should always obtain their
own legal advice if they are unsure of the requirements of legislation.
It must be noted that vehicles and drivers licensed by different local authorities can be used
for private hire purposes within this district. These vehicles and drivers are not subject to
compliance with the conditions applied by this authority. But must still comply with their own
local authority conditions and the general law.
Consultation and Revision
The council will consult with stakeholders and relevant agencies prior to the adoption of this
policy, and will do so for the further continuation and development of the policy.
This policy and appendices will be in kept under review and revised as appropriate and in any
event, not less than every five years. The council expects licence holders to comply with its
terms and conditions.
This being the first draft of the policy, will be consulted upon for 12 weeks from xxx to xxx.
The consultation draft policy will be made freely available on the council's website and main
council buildings.
The Licensing Regime
Any person who carries out hire and reward work without the correct licences, would be
breaking the law and therefore would not have valid insurance. This can have serious
consequences for all parties involved, if an accident or incident occurs.
In order to be licensed correctly the licenses must ‘match’, i.e. issued by the same local
authority. A hackney carriage vehicle and the driver must be licensed by the same local
authority. For private hire, the operator, driver and vehicle must be licensed by the same
authority. This does not prohibit the operator subcontracting a booking to another operator
licensed by a different local authority.
The legislation places a duty on the local authority to only licence those who are considered
to be ‘fit and proper’. The term ‘fit and proper’ is not defined in legislation therefore the widest
interpretation will apply.
The legislation allows local authorities to set their own conditions, requirements and
application processes. Which means that each local authority’s requirements and conditions
are different.

13

Other general law is also applicable such as the Road Traffic Act, Health and Safety at Work
Act, the Health Act, the Equality Act etc. This is not a definitive list and not all applicable
legislation is enforced or regulated by the council. Breckland Council expects licence holders
to ensure that they keep up to date and comply with all applicable legislation pertaining to their
roles.
Role of Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Trade and the difference between them
The Council recognises the importance of hackney carriage and private hire vehicles, drivers,
proprietors and operators. They play an essential role in the provision of local transport for
those who have difficulty getting about on public transport, those enjoying the night time
economy, taking children to school etc., and are vital in helping to maintain a healthy local
economy. They can often be the first contact for a visitor to the local area.
Whilst the general public do not always know the difference between a hackney carriage and
a private hire vehicle, and often refer to both as taxis, there are significant distinctions in law,
on how they are allowed to operate. However, both have equal importance.
Within the district in which a hackney carriage vehicle (and driver) are licensed, they are
available for immediate hiring, they can be hailed (or flagged) in the street, can wait on a rank
and be approached directly by a member of the public i.e. ‘ply for hire’ in public places. They
are not required to be booked via an operator. They must display a table of fares within the
vehicle which shows the current maximum fares to be charged as set by the local authority.
In law, these are allowed to be called ‘taxis’ or ‘cabs’. Hackney carriages licensed by another
local authority who operate within this district cannot ply for hire or wait on ranks. They may
however be used for private hire purposes, i.e. carry out pre-booked journeys.
A private hire vehicle is not allowed to accept direct bookings from the public. They can only
accept bookings from a licensed operator, they cannot operate independently, i.e. without a
licensed operator. They cannot be hailed in the street or wait on ranks. If a private hire driver
accepts a fare which has not been pre-booked through a licensed operator, they are
committing an offence and potentially driving without valid insurance.
The fares charged are not regulated by the authority, but must be agreed with the operator at
the time of booking. Although, within district, where a private hire vehicle has a taximeter fitted,
the fare charged cannot be more than would be charged by the taximeter fare. They are not
allowed to use the term ‘taxi’ or ‘cab’.
In determining if a vehicle is being used for private hire purposes and needs to be licensed,
the council will have regard to the guidance issued by DfT.
Information sharing
The council works in partnership with many other enforcement agencies such as the Police,
HM Revenue and Customs, the Home Office, DVSA, Department of Work and Pensions,
benefit fraud etc. The council will share information with other departments or regulatory
bodies where appropriate. The council is legally required to provide information if requested,
pursuant to a criminal offence, or to detect fraud, or immigration offences.
The legislation also requires local authorities to maintain a public register.
The council will work with neighbouring authorities and report to them any relevant matters
that relate to their licence holders.

14

Decision making
Each application and enforcement action will be determined on its own merits. Determination
of applications will be made in accordance with this policy and the council’s constitution.
Officers have delegated powers, but may also refer certain matters to the licensing committee
if appropriate.
The Licensing Committee will appoint a Licensing Panel, which will consist of three members.
The Licensing Panel will be advised by a legal representative.
Where an application is referred to the Licensing Panel for consideration, the applicant will be
notified in writing of the reason and the date, time and venue of the Hearing.
The licensing hearings are conducted in a quasi-judicial manner. This means that the
Licensing Panel has to act in a similar fashion to a Court or Tribunal. It is therefore important
that persons appearing before the Panel should behave in an appropriate manner.
Enforcement actions will be in accordance with this policy, the council’s enforcement policy
and the Regulators’ Code 2014.
Any person who has been refused a licence, or has had their licence revoked or suspended,
or who believes that the imposition of a condition is unfair, may appeal to the magistrate’s
court within 21 days of being given the decision.
Immigration Act – all licences
The council has a statutory obligation to ensure that applicants have the legal right to work in
the UK prior to issuing a licence. The issuing or refusing of licenses will be undertaken in
accordance with the requirements of the Immigration Act 2016 with due regard to Home Office
guidance.
The council takes this responsibility seriously and has checks in place to ensure compliance
with the Act, and will liaise where required with relevant Home Office departments. If however,
a licence has been issued incorrectly for whatever reason, the licence ceases to have effect
if the person does not have the right to work in the UK. Any licence which has expired due to
the person’s immigration status must be returned to the council within 7 days.
A licence may be suspended or revoked or refused to be renewed if, since the grant of the
licence, there has been a conviction of an immigration offence or a requirement to pay an
immigration penalty.
Proprietors and operators also have an obligation to ensure that they only utilise persons who
have the right to work in the UK. Failure to observe this obligation, or to provide due diligence
checks, will be subject to enforcement action by the appropriate Home Office department,
which may result in a civil penalty or imprisonment.
Passenger Transport
To become an approved operator for children’s transport, please call the County Council’s
Passenger Transport Team.
Complaints
To make any complaint regarding any hackney carriage or private hire matter please make
your complaint in writing to the councils Licensing department:
Licensing

15

Breckland Council
Elizabeth House
Walpole
Dereham
Norfolk
NR19 1EE
Email: licensing.team@breckland.gov.uk

16

GENERAL PROVISIONS FOR HACKNEY CARRIAGES AND PRIVATE HIRE VEHICLES
Vehicles General
The maximum duration of a vehicle licence is one year, this is a requirement of legislation.
However, a vehicle licence can be renewed up to the age at which it will be de-licensed as
specified in the relevant appendices.
If a renewal application has not been received at the end of the vehicle’s licensed period, the
vehicle cannot be used for hire and reward purposes. Any vehicle which has not renewed
before the expiry of the licence will be classed as de-licensed, and will be required to apply as
a new vehicle and meet the required age and specification criteria for a new vehicle.
Exceptions may be made, if the vehicle is undergoing major repair work and evidence can be
provided of this.
It is the responsibility of the vehicle owner to ensure that renewal applications, paperwork and
mechanical tests are carried out in a timely manner and before the expiry of the licence to
avoid the unnecessary burden of a vehicle being de-licensed.
Once a vehicle is licensed as either a private hire vehicle or a hackney carriage vehicle it
remains a licensed vehicle until it is de-licensed. This means that these vehicles can only be
driven by licensed drivers. The only exception to this is where an applicant is undertaking a
test, or the vehicle is being tested e.g. driven by a garage mechanic.
Therefore any other person who is not a licensed driver themselves, are not permitted to drive
licensed vehicles, even when the vehicle is considered ‘off duty’. Any insurance policy which
provides insurance for a licensed vehicle to an unlicensed person, is likely to be invalid.
Insurance policies are usually invalid if the insured is knowingly breaking the law by driving
the vehicle.
Vehicles which accommodate more than 8 passengers cannot be licensed as a hackney
carriage or private hire vehicle.
The council is introducing vehicle age and emission standards for licensed vehicles. These
should be referred to before obtaining a new vehicle. Please refer to Appendix A
The council has set conditions applicable to the testing requirements, internal and external
specifications, of the vehicles it will licence. These can be found on the appendices attached,
Appendix D for private hire vehicles and Appendix B for hackney carriage vehicles.
There is a separate set of conditions applicable for Limousine and speciality vehicles, licensed
as private hire vehicles, which can be found at Appendix G. These appendices also provide
detail on vehicle specification, design, vehicle age limits, types of vehicles etc. that may be
licensed.
The council has set these conditions to ensure that the public travel in safe, comfortable and
roadworthy vehicles. All vehicles must also conform to the type approval and construction and
use regulations.
Whilst each application will be determined on its own merits, it is unlikely that the council would
licence a vehicle which did not meet the licensing standards and specifications. Details on
exceptional conditions of vehicle can be found included within Appendix A.

17

All vehicles must provide adequate heating and ventilation systems for the driver and
passengers. Passengers must be able to operate the windows independently.
All expired plates must be returned to the council or retained by the appointed testing station
upon renewal.
All licensed vehicles must comply with the requirements of the Health Act 2006 and display a
no smoking sign. Drivers are reminded that it is against the law to smoke or allow someone to
smoke in a licensed vehicle at any time. For the avoidance of doubt, the council also forbids
the smoking of electronic cigarettes, vaping and electronic nicotine delivery systems (ENDS)
in licensed vehicles, whether by the driver or passengers.
Appearance
Vehicles must be safe, comfortable, the passenger compartments must be clean and dry
including upholstery, without rips or tears or sharp protrusions. Proprietors, drivers and
operators must ensure that the vehicles they utilise, meet the expectations of this council and
the travelling public.
The exterior of the vehicle must be reasonably clean to ensure that passengers can get in and
out of the vehicle without fear of getting their clothing dirty with dust, oil, mud and other road
debris. Drivers are also reminded to ensure that the licence plate and registration plate remain
clean and visible.
Any vehicle damage that materially affects the safety, performance, appearance, or the
comfort of the passenger must not be used for hire and reward purposes, until the vehicle has
been suitably repaired.
All licensed vehicles must display the licence plate on the outside at the rear of the vehicle,
unless it is a private hire vehicle and has been granted a plate exemption certificate.
The licence plate must be securely fixed to the outside of the vehicle, in such a manner that
the plate is not obscured from view by fixtures or fittings, and the plate does not obscure the
vehicle registration plate. The plate must also be able to be easily removed by an authorised
council officer or police officer.
Private hire vehicles must display on the rear passenger doors in a prominent location,
permanently affixed (not magnetic) door signage. The signage will be provided by the council.
Advertising
A private hire vehicle may display advertising but any form of advertising so displayed shall
not be of such appearance or design as to lead any person to believe it to be a hackney
carriage.
Whilst there are no specific restrictions to advertising on hackney carriage or private hire
licensed vehicles, operators/ drivers should not place any form of advertising on windows
which may impede the drivers or passengers visual line of sight or cause discomfort. Similarly
operators/drivers are expected to ensure that any advertising material displayed on or in the
vehicle is decent, non-controversial or non-offensive to any person or organisation.

18

Insurance
It is the responsibility of proprietors, operators and drivers to ensure that they are properly
insured at all times. Insurance provided by operators to cover their fleet and drivers is usually
only valid when drivers are driving for that company. If drivers work for multiple operators, all
parties must ensure that appropriate and valid insurance is in place to avoid an inadvertent
criminal offence.
Applications for new or renewal of a vehicle licence will require submission of proof of valid
insurance which covers the vehicle and driver for hire and reward purposes. The vehicle
proprietor and the driver must ensure that valid insurance is maintained at all times. It is
considered best practice for proprietors and or drivers to keep copies of expired insurance
policies for a reasonable period of time in case of any retrospective claims.
Safety equipment
All licensed vehicles must have a suitable and efficient fire extinguisher and first aid kit
containing appropriate first aid dressings and appliances. Such equipment must be in date
and carried in such a position in the vehicle as to be readily available and visible for immediate
use in an emergency.
The fire extinguisher must be a 1kg or 2kg Multi-Purpose dry power fire extinguisher to BS
EN3 standard. It should be readily accessible without delay and the responsibility of the driver
to ensure that they are able to use the fire extinguisher in their vehicle.
The vehicle must have emergency equipment within the vehicle which is available to the driver
that is maintained and working. This must include as a minimum requirement:
 a torch
 a warning triangle that meets European Standards
 Florescent and reflective tabards which are for use at night and in poor visibility
which meets European Standards, one must be available for the driver and one
for each passenger the vehicle is permitted to carry.
The vehicle and all its fittings and equipment must, at all times when the vehicle is in use or
available for hire, be kept in an efficient, safe, tidy and clean condition and all relevant statutory
requirements must be fully complied with.
CCTV in licensed vehicles
The installation of CCTV in licensed vehicles can be both a deterrent and a source of evidence
in the case of disputes between drivers and passengers, other incidents and accidents. If fitted
correctly, it can assist the police and insurance companies with their investigations.
The installation of CCTV in licensed vehicles is not imposed as a condition. Whilst the council
understands the benefits to the trade, as well as to passengers, and encourages its use in
licensed vehicles, it is left to the judgement of the proprietors, drivers and operators to
determine.
Where drivers, proprietors and operators have considered it appropriate to install CCTV in
their vehicles as a safeguarding measure, they must notify the council prior to installation.
They must be registered with the ICO and comply with all aspects of data protection and CCTV
codes of practice.

19

CCTV must be professionally installed to ensure no interference with other equipment, in such
a manner that it does not increase the risk of injury or discomfort to the driver and passengers,
or affect any other safety system or in any way breach the motor vehicle construction and use
regulations. It must be regularly checked and maintained, be openly overt and the vehicle
must display the required signage.
CCTV must not be used to record conversations of the travelling public as it is highly intrusive.
Some systems have a driver panic button which if activated does record sound, this should
only be used in extreme circumstances, such as in response to a threat of physical violence.
The CCTV specifications for hackney carriage and private hire vehicles can be found at
Appendix L.
Maintenance of vehicles
Licensed vehicles have high usage and mileage and it is in the public interest, as well as the
drivers, to ensure that vehicles are properly maintained.
Maintenance is a key factor with any vehicle and its good practice for all licensed vehicles to
be part of a planned preventative maintenance programme, where all vehicles are routinely
serviced to ensure safety and quality. The council expects this level of commitment from
drivers and operators. It should be noted that the 12 monthly and 6 monthly tests carried out
by the approved vehicle testing stations is to confirm a level of safety and quality, rather than
highlight to the driver what maintenance needs to be carried out.

Vehicle Testing
The law requires all vehicles to have a yearly MOT test. However, as licensed vehicles provide
a service to the public and have more usage, wear and tear, it is appropriate to subject these
vehicles to a more stringent and enhanced test than the standard MOT test. Prior to licensing
any vehicle, it must have passed this enhanced test at the council's appointed testing station.
The vehicle, unless it is less than 12 months old, must have an MOT that is no more than two
months old at the time the application is made.
The vehicle, unless it is less than 12 months old, must have passed the council’s enhanced
vehicle test at one of the councils approved vehicle testing stations.
When the vehicle becomes 12 months old it must undergo an MOT and have passed the
council’s enhanced vehicle test at one of the council’s approved vehicle testing stations.
The council considers it appropriate to require all vehicles over 5 years old, to be subject to a
six monthly enhanced vehicle test at the approved vehicle testing station. This is to ensure
that, as the vehicle gets older, it still meets the required standards applied by this council, and
the law regarding vehicle emissions.
Vehicles must be presented for vehicle testing at one of the councils approved vehicle testing
stations. A list of the councils approved testing stations can be found at Appendix L.
Proprietors/drivers must make sure that they organise the tests sufficiently in advance to
ensure that the vehicle remains compliant with the vehicle testing requirements set out in the
conditions (i.e. yearly or six monthly).
Retesting of licensed vehicles

20

A vehicle that fails an enhanced vehicle test / inspection during the currency of a licence will
have the fault(s) rectified and the vehicle re-inspected within 2 months of the original
inspection. Failure to do so will lead to the automatic revocation of the vehicle licence.
Where a licensed vehicle has failed an enhanced test at one of the councils approved vehicle
testing stations the vehicle is required to be retested at the same garage to ensure that all
faults identified have been rectified and the vehicle is confirmed as compliant.

Accidents
Any accident that causes damage which materially affects the safety, performance,
appearance, or the comfort or convenience of the persons carried therein, must be reported
to the council as soon as reasonably practicable, and in any case within 72 hours. Failure to
report an accident within the given timeframe is an offence.
The driver involved in the accident must provide details to the licensing department of how,
where and when the accident occurred and complete a vehicle accident form. Where the
vehicle is not capable of being driven, photos must be taken and given to the licensing
department with the accident form and vehicle's licence plate and a vehicle suspension notice
will be issued.
Drivers, proprietors and operators are advised that the council may be contacted by insurance
companies to verify an accident damage report and details provided.
A replacement vehicle may be used until an accident vehicle has been fully repaired and
passed the relevant requirements. Replacement vehicles must first be passed as fit for service
by a council's approved vehicle testing station and must meet all the other requirements and
standards applicable. They will be required to apply as a new licensed vehicle. Vehicle licence
plates and the licence must be returned once the vehicle is no longer in use.
Requirements to undertake additional tests
A licensed vehicle which attracts a vehicle suspension notice (VOR) for serious defects may
be required at the discretion of an Authorised Officer of the Council, to undertake a further test
to demonstrate that the vehicle is roadworthy before the suspension will be lifted. The cost of
such a test is to be borne by the operator/driver.
Unfit Vehicle Notices
A notice can be issued by an Authorised officer or Police officer where a vehicles defects give
cause for concern.
Immediate Unfit Notices will be given if the vehicle appears to be unsafe to carry members of
the public. Once a notice is issued the vehicle must not be used for hire with immediate effect.
The vehicle must be presented to either an officer or one of the councils approved vehicle
testing stations with the faults rectified. Only after this will the notice be lifted and the vehicle
can then be used for hire.
If the authorised officer or police officer is not satisfied within 2 months of the initial inspection
the vehicle licence shall be deemed revoked. An authorised officer or police officer may permit
other persons to examine the vehicle on their behalf.
Taximeters

21

All hackney carriages licensed by this authority are required to have a working taximeter fitted
in the vehicle, some private hire vehicles are also fitted with a taximeter. Where a taximeter is
fitted, it must be calendar controlled, must not be set at a higher fare than the current maximum
fare as agreed by the council. The taximeter must be sealed and approved by one of the
councils approved vehicle testing stations.
Within district, if a vehicle is fitted with a taximeter it must be used when conveying
passengers, the fare demanded cannot be more than that shown on the taximeter. If a fare
has been quoted and agreed and is less than the fare shown on the taximeter, the quoted
lesser fare must be charged.
Taxi meters are required to be fully tested for the following reasons:
 When a vehicle is first licensed as a taxi or private hire vehicle
 When a taxi meter is changed
 When the Table of Fares is changed
 When the seal is found to be broken/ irregular during a check
 When an irregularity is reported/found as a result of a customer complaint or
enforcement spot check
Transfer of ownership of the vehicle
If a proprietor wishes to transfer ownership of a licensed vehicle, they must complete the
required application, providing full details of the new owner of the vehicle as soon as practically
possible, and in any case within 14 days. A proprietor who fails to give such notice, without
reasonable excuse, is guilty of an offence.
Accessibility of vehicles
An accessible public transport system where people with disabilities have the same
opportunities to travel as other members of society is the aim of this council. The council
expects that proprietors, drivers and operators give full consideration to the service they
provide to ensure they provide service to all members of society without discrimination.
The council is required to ensure that a wide variety of opportunity is available to all residents
to enjoy a high quality of life. It is recognised that making door to door journeys easily and ondemand is crucial to social inclusion for disabled people.
All hackney carriages licensed by this council are required to be designated wheelchair
accessible vehicles (WAV). This is to ensure that people with disabilities are able to hire the
vehicle on the spot with the minimum delay or inconvenience.
All licensed drivers must ensure that no extra charges are applied for conveying persons with
disabilities.
All licensed vehicles must convey assistance dogs for no additional charge. It is a breach of
the Equality Act to refuse to carry an assistance dog, unless the driver has applied for and
been issued an exemption certificate. Further information can be found under Obligations of
a Taxi Driver to Carry Disabled Persons using Wheelchairs in the General Provisions for
Hackney Carriage & Private Hire Drivers section.

22

The council encourages all private hire operators to include wheelchair accessible vehicles
amongst their fleet and to ensure that no additional costs are levied by them or their drivers,
for conveying disabled passengers or assistance dogs.
Private hire vehicles fitted with a tail lift for wheelchairs, must provide a valid LOLER (Lifting
Operations Lifting Equipment Regulations) certificate of compliance to prove that the tail lift
has been tested and checked to the required standards and must be retested every six months
as per HSE (Health and Safety Executive) requirements.
Trailers, roof and bike carriers
The use of trailers is permitted provided that they are only utilised for pre-booked journeys
when excess luggage is to be carried and not for general use. Trailers will therefore be
required to be presented for test by an approved vehicle testing station. The trailer will also
need to display and make clearly visible an additional registration plate and a licence plate
which will be provided by the Council on payment of the appropriate fee.
The trailer must be tested prior to its first use and again at each inspection of any vehicle on
which the trailer is authorised to be used. If found to be satisfactory a permission by the
garage will be allowed for one year.
The trailer must comply with all aspects of current legislation and is of a type recommended
by the vehicle manufacturer as being suitable for the intended towing vehicle.
The trailer must be purpose built and manufactured for the purpose of which it was intended.
The tow bar and fitting should be of a type approved by the manufacturer of the vehicle and
fitted by an approved agent.
No advertising will be permitted on any part of the trailer.
The trailer shall carry an appropriate spare wheel and correctly inflated spare tyre at all times
that it is in use.
The trailer must be of a design that when coupled to the vehicle it does not interfere with the
operation of any rear door, emergency exits or wheelchair access ramps.
The trailer must be hard bodied and be fitted with securely fastening covers, which can be
hard top or canvas tarpaulin type, to prevent the ingress of liquid on to any luggage being
carried. The trailer shall be covered at all times whilst in transit.
The trailer must be plated by the manufacturer specifying the maximum load to be carried.
The kerbside weight of the trailer when fully laden should not exceed that determined by the
vehicle manufacturer as being the safe towing weight limit.
A trailer is not permitted on a hackney carriage rank.
It is the driver’s responsibility to ensure that he/she holds the appropriate category DVLA
licence.

23

If a roof carrier is to be used for luggage or goods, in addition to normal luggage, it must be a
type fitted to the guttering or to the roof rails provided by the vehicle’s manufacturer. The roof
carrier to be used must be provided with the vehicle when it is tested by one of the Council’s
appointed testing stations.
The use of bicycle carriers is prohibited on a licensed vehicle.
Funeral and wedding vehicles
There is no requirement for a vehicle to be licensed as a private hire if it is being used in
connection with a funeral, or is being wholly or mainly used by a person carrying on the
business of a funeral director for the purpose of funerals.
There is no requirement for a vehicle to be licensed as a private hire while it is being used in
connection with a wedding.
Limousine and Speciality Vehicles
Limousine and speciality vehicles are generally used for special occasions such as
anniversaries, stag and hen parties, prom nights, etc. and may be vintage, specialist, or
stretched vehicles.
Limousine and speciality vehicles used for the purpose of hire and reward are required to be
licensed as private hire vehicles and all bookings must be made via a licensed operator.
These are specialist types of vehicles with their own set of conditions, in addition to the
standard conditions. Where there is any inconsistency between the standard conditions and
these specialist conditions, then these specialist conditions shall prevail. The conditions can
be found at Appendix G.
The council strongly recommends that anyone wishing to purchase and licence a speciality
vehicle or limousine, contacts the licensing team prior to purchase, to ensure that the vehicle
will meet the conditions applied. Each application will be determined on its own merits.
Carrying Children and Babies in Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Vehicles
Hackney Carriages and Private Hire vehicles are not required by law to carry child car seats.
A child aged 3 or over can travel on a rear seat and wear an adult seat belt. Children under 3
must also travel on a rear seat but without a seat belt.
The council makes a recommendation that where a journey is precooked and children will be
expected to travel that a safe and suitable car seat is made available for the child.

Private hire exemption to display licence plate etc.
The council recognises that there is a specialist market for the use of unmarked hire and
reward vehicles. For example, executives who wish to give the appearance of using a
chauffeur driven car, or who require an unmarked vehicle for security reasons. Such
customers will expect these vehicles to be prestige high specification vehicles and will also

24

expect the driver to be smartly dressed either as a chauffeur or in a business suit with collared
shirt and tie.
The ability to exempt a vehicle from displaying the licence plate only applies to private hire
vehicles, it does not extend to hackney carriages which must display their plates at all times.
Prestige high specification private hire vehicles which carry out contract work such as
executive bookings etc. may apply for an exemption certificate, which exempts that vehicle
from the requirement to display the rear licence plate and door signage. It also exempts the
licensed driver from wearing his badge, however the driver must carry his badge with him so
that it is immediately available. The vehicle will still be issued with an exemption internal
licence plate. Insurance which covers the driver and vehicle for hire and reward purposes must
still be maintained.
Vehicles which have been issued with an exemption certificate must not be used for general
daily private hire work. Exempted vehicles found to be carrying out standard private hire work
will be subject to enforcement action and the exemption certificate may be revoked.
Exempted vehicles must not display any advertisements, signage, logos, or insignias
advertising the operating company inside or outside the vehicle.
Operators and proprietors who wish to apply for an exemption certificate must complete the
application form, pay the required fee and provide sufficient supporting documentation to
establish the vehicle will be solely used for executive bookings. Where issued, an exemption
certificate renewal date will coincide with the renewal of the private hire vehicle licence.
There are extra conditions applicable to exempted vehicles, in addition to the standard
conditions. Where there is any inconsistency between the standard conditions and these extra
conditions, then these extra conditions shall prevail. The extra conditions can be found at
Appendix I.
If an exemption certificate has been issued and the vehicle will no longer be utilised solely for
executive type bookings, the certificate must be surrendered and returned to the council. If the
vehicle is still licensed, it must then display a private hire internal plate and rear plate and door
stickers as required by the conditions for private hire vehicles.
Right of Appeal
The council may suspend, revoke or refuse to renew a Hackney Carriage vehicle licence on
the following grounds:
a) The vehicle is unfit for use as a licensed hackney carriage/private hire vehicle.
b) The proprietor or driver has committed an offence under, or failed to comply with the
provisions of the relevant Acts.
c) Any other reasonable cause.
The council must give notice of the grounds for doing so within 14 days.
Any person aggrieved by the refusal of the council to grant a vehicle licence has the right of
appeal. An applicant appealing a hackney carriage vehicle licence has a right of appeal to the
Crown Court only. An applicant appealing a private hire vehicle licence has a right of appeal
to a Magistrates’ Court. An appeal must be implemented within 21 days of receipt of the notice.
Please note that failure to comply with any of the vehicle licence conditions including the
general conditions relating to licensed vehicles may result in the commencement of criminal
proceedings, and/or in the suspension or revocation of an existing licence, or in the refusal to
issue a new licence

25

CAUTIONARY ADVICE
You are strongly advised not to purchase a vehicle or any equipment or fittings, without first
reading the Council’s policy and preconditions to the grant of a licence and also these
conditions. If in doubt about any aspect you should make an appointment with the vehicle
examiner at one of the Councils appointed testing centres. The Licensing team are not
qualified to make technical assessments and are under instruction not to offer such advice. If
a vehicle does not meet the conditions and specifications it is unlikely that a licence will not
be granted.

26

GENERAL PROVISIONS FOR HACKNEY CARRIAGE & PRIVATE HIRE DRIVERS
The Council will only issue a dual drivers licence, which entitles the qualified driver to drive
either a Hackney Carriage or Private Hire Vehicle.
Drivers general
The council can only licence drivers that it considers are ‘fit and proper’ to hold a licence, and
that the applicant is not disqualified by reason of their immigration status. There is no definition
or general test that determines whether or not a driver is deemed ‘fit and proper’ to hold a
licence. It is a matter of judgement for the licensing authority in order to assess any risks or
concerns, taking into consideration such matters as the applicant’s integrity, honesty and
previous character. Previous convictions and cautions are taken into account as well as other
information.
Therefore the council will require applicants and licence holders to undertake several checks
and tests to establish their suitability to be considered ‘fit and proper’ to either be, or remain
licensed.
Applicants and existing licence holders are required to share information held about them by
various bodies, such as DVLA, the police, medical information, right to work, immigration
status, etc. The council can request any information it deems may be relevant to determine
their fit and proper status. This may include checking a driver’s prior history with this or any
other council, using intelligence from the police or any other regulatory authority as appears
relevant.
In order to be eligible to apply to be a licensed driver, an applicant must have held a valid full
GB driving licence (or equivalent as defined by DVLA) for a minimum of 12 months. Therefore
the minimum age a person could be eligible to apply is 18 years old. There is no maximum
age, so long as the applicant still meets the full criteria.
In order to be a licensed driver an applicant must submit a signed completed application form
and fee, provide proof of right to work in the UK, complete an approved drivers course as
stated by the council, provide a satisfactory DBS, DVLA and group 2 medical report, provide
a recent passport type photo, and pass the wheelchair assessment test.
Driver’s licenses are generally issued for a three year duration. They may be issued for a
lesser period if appropriate, e.g. the applicant’s right to work is of a shorter or limited duration.
They may also be renewed, however, if a licensed driver fails to renew within a period of 28
days of the date of expiry of the licence, they will be required to apply as a new driver and
meet all the requirements.
It is the responsibility of the driver to ensure they apply for their renewal with all relevant
supporting original documentation in good time to avoid any unnecessary burden.
It is important that drivers notify the council of any significant changes which occur after their
licence has been granted. Such as change of name or address, or email address or telephone
number, change of immigration status, changes in their physical or mental health which may
affect their driving ability, all convictions, cautions or arrests, DVLA penalty points etc. or any
other matter which may question their fit and proper status.
All licensed drivers are required to wear their drivers badge whilst working as a licensed driver.
Failure to comply is an offence under the 1976 Act and local byelaws. Drivers are reminded

27

that the driver's badge remains the property of the Council, all expired, surrendered or revoked
badges must be returned to the council.
Suitability of driver
Licensed drivers will come into contact with vulnerable people, drivers are expected to assist
passengers with luggage, shopping etc., they will be driving for prolonged periods of time, and
will have access to sensitive information, therefore the council must fully assess an applicant’s
suitability prior to and after issuing a licence.
Consideration of suitability includes character and patterns of behaviour and are not limited to
incidents which occur whilst the driver is ‘on duty’. Conduct or behaviour which may indicate
that the safety and welfare of the public may be at risk, will also be taken into account when
assessing their fit and proper status. The onus is on the applicant or licensed driver to satisfy
the council that they are and remain ‘fit and proper’.
The council requires applicants to fulfil certain criteria to ensure that the public are protected
and drivers are able to provide the service which is expected of them.
Applicants will be required to undertake and provide an Enhanced DBS (Disclosure and
Barring Service) check and a medical health check to the DVLA group 2 standard, and share
information held by DVLA, upon new and renewal applications.
Applicants for new and renewals, who fail to report or declare an offence, or other relevant
matter, will be taken particularly seriously. As it deliberately prevents the authority from taking
into account that information in protecting public safety. It also shows a blatant breach of
conditions and will go toward consideration of suitability and their fit and proper status.
Where Licensing Officers have delegated powers to grant licences, they will utilise the
guidelines when making a decision of whether or not to grant a licence. Should there be any
doubt in the Officers opinion as to whether the applicant is a ‘fit and proper person,’ then the
licence will be referred to the Licensing Panel.
English Language
It is essential for public safety that all licensed drivers are able to communicate in English at
an appropriate level. Drivers need to be able to communicate with passengers to discuss a
route or fare, as well as read, understand and respond to important regulatory, safety and
travel information. There may also be occasions when a driver needs to communicate with
passengers on a safety issue like the use of a seat belt or talk with them in an emergency
situation. Drivers also need to understand the conditions of their licence or any notices given
by an enforcement officer. Drivers may also need to write to the Council for example to let us
know about changes in health or any criminal convictions or perhaps communicate in writing
with a passenger who has a hearing impairment.
It is therefore a requirement for all drivers to ensure that they have adequate English language
skills in reading, writing, speaking and listening as it is considered that of these skills are
essential to carry out the role.
Anyone applying for a new licence, or seeking to renew their licence on or after 1st April 2020
will need to satisfy the English language requirement before a licence will be granted.
A driver will be required to attend an appointment to submit their application and must submit
with their application an example of suitable evidence.

28

This is a list of examples of suitable evidence you can supply to prove you meet the
requirement. The list is not exhaustive. The subject of the qualification does not matter as long
as it was taught in English. The certificate must be the original and not a photocopy.







UK GCSE/O level (or equivalent) certificate at grades A* to G
UK AS-Level/A level certificate
UK NVQ*/BTEC/City & Guilds qualification, along with confirmation from the awarding
body that the qualification provided is equivalent to GCSE or above (for example, a Blue
Badge Guide qualification)
UK BA Hons, BSc Hons degree or higher i.e. master's, PhD
UK HNC/HND qualification

A non-UK qualification will be regarded as suitable evidence if it was taught and examined in
English. Drivers educated in English outside the UK to the equivalent of GCSE level or above
would be sufficient to prove that a driver has the required level of English. A driver will
providing this evidence will need to provide further information that the qualification was taught
and examined in English. A letter from the teaching / examining institution is sufficient for
these purposes but any information must be translated into English.
An applicant will be required to undertake an English language assessment if they cannot
provide an example of evidence. A fee will be charged for this assessment. It is expected
that an applicant should arrange and take an assessment prior to submission of an application.

Medical Requirements
It is essential that licensed drivers are in good health as they are expected to carry passengers’
luggage, will drive on the road for longer periods than most car drivers, and may need to assist
disabled passengers. The council must be satisfied that the drivers it licenses are sufficiently
fit to undertake the tasks expected of them.
Being a licensed driver is a demanding role, safe driving requires the involvement of vision,
hearing, attention, concentration, perception, good reaction time, judgement, coordination,
muscle power and control etc.
Due to the length of time an occupational driver (hackney carriage and private hire) spends at
the wheel, it is appropriate to have more stringent medical checks and standards than those
applicable to normal car drivers.
The DVLA, The Royal Society of Medicine and the DfT recommend and consider it best
practice for licensed drivers (hackney carriage and private hire) to be subject to the DVLA
group 2 medical requirements. The DVLA group 2 medical is a recognised national standard
developed by DVLA for bus and lorry drivers.
To ensure that public safety is protected, the council has chosen to adopt this best practice
and require all applicants to obtain and submit a group 2 medical report with their application
for new and renewals.
Therefore applicants are required to undergo a medical examination by a registered general
practitioner and submit the doctor’s group 2 medical report with their application, to enable the
council to consider their fitness to hold a licence.

29

The group 2 medical assessment must be completed by a doctor registered and licensed to
practice in the UK. If the applicant's own doctor completes the medical assessment it may
speed up the application, as they already have full access to their medical records.
A group 2 medical report must be submitted with all new applications and every three years
upon renewal and then annually thereafter when the applicant reaches 65 years old.
Applicants must pay any fees to the registered medical practitioner for completing the medical
and report. The medical assessment must be no older than four months at the time of
submission with the relevant application.
Applicants must arrange and book these appointments themselves and provide photographic
proof of identity to the registered medical practitioner. If the registered practitioner is unable to
complete the vision assessment section of the medical, the applicant must arrange for an
optician or optometrist to complete this part.
Licensed drivers must notify the council and their medical practitioner of any deterioration in
their physical or mental health which may affect their ability to drive or complete their tasks as
a licensed driver. The council expects licensed drivers to be responsible and to not continue
to drive following any deterioration in their health, or any health problems which could
endanger the lives of the general public.
If a licensed driver is involved in an accident in which s/he is injured, they must ensure that
they are fit prior to returning to hire and reward work, this is for the safety of the driver and the
general public. Drivers who have suffered whiplash must ensure that they have sufficient
movement in the neck area to enable them to observe any potential hazards.
Convictions, cautions and related matters
In considering fit and proper, the council will take into consideration any prior convictions and
cautions. Therefore, all applicants for new and renewals are required to undertake and submit
an Enhanced DBS check. This check will detail all criminal convictions and cautions including
those that are spent, and other relevant matters which may be held by the police about them.
It does not prove an applicant’s right to work.
Due to the type of work performed by licensed drivers, they do not fall under the Rehabilitation
of Offenders Act. This means that what would be considered as spent, under the Rehabilitation
of Offenders Act, are still taken into consideration when determining applications for licensed
drivers.
Where convictions or cautions appear on a DBS, it is not the place of the council to go behind
the existence or reason of that conviction. Whilst mitigating circumstances may have applied
at the time of the conviction, the council cannot re-try the conviction. Depending on the offence
committed, applicants may be able to demonstrate that it was a ‘one off’, they acted out of
character, so is unlikely to be repeated. Each application will be determined on its own merits.
Applicants who have not resided continuously in the UK for five years will be required to submit
a Statement / Certificate of Good Conduct, authenticated by the relevant embassy of the
country of residence, in addition to the Enhanced DBS certificate.
The existence of a criminal conviction or caution does not necessarily preclude an applicant
from obtaining a driver's licence. Conversely, the absence of any convictions or cautions does
not mean that an applicant will be licensed. Each application will be determined on its own
merits.

30

Further information is contained in the Guidelines relating to the relevant of convictions /
cautions in relation to taxi licensing attached at Appendix H.
Whilst each application is determined on its own merits, some offences are of such a serious
nature that it is unlikely that a licence would be issued. Such as indecency offences relating
to sexual assault or rape.
Under Common Law Police Disclosure (CLPD) the police can share information regarding a
licensed driver even before conviction if there is a ‘pressing social need’. This ensures that
where there is a public protection risk, the police will pass information onto a regulator body
to allow swift actions to mitigate any serious safeguarding risk. Please refer to Appendix M for
further information on Safeguarding.
Licensed drivers are obligated to notify the licensing department in writing within 7 days of
any cautions, convictions, arrests, immigration offences, road traffic offences such as
speeding, or any other relevant matters which may question their fit and proper status, that
occur during or after the licence has been issued.
If it comes to the attention of the council that a licensed driver has failed to notify the council
of relevant matters which occur during or after the licence has been issued, it will be taken
particularly seriously. It shows a propensity towards dishonesty and questions the fit and
proper status of the licence holder.
Disclosure and Barring (DBS) Service
New applicants are required to apply for a Disclosure and Barring Service (DBS) Enhanced
check.
A DBS Certificate should be applied for in the first instance to the council prior to an application
made at the County Council (for a school contract badge). It is an enhanced DBS certificate
and will be processed in relation to the child and adult workforce employment position
including other workforce. Certificates issued by the County Council will not be permitted for
a District Council badge.
The enhanced DBS certificate will be allowed has been printed and issued within 1 month.
Certificates older than 1 month from the date of application will not be accepted.
The Council requires all drivers to have a DBS check annually (each year by the
anniversary date of the licence). If the information is not provided to the Council by the
anniversary date of the grant of the licence the licence may be suspended or revoked until the
information is provided.
Drivers are required to subscribe to the DBS Online Update Service once they receive their
DBS certificate.

DBS Update Service
You must register for the updating service within 19 days of your DBS certificate being issued.
A subscription to the update service lasts for one year. You can renew your subscription
through the update service, either:

31




when you first register, by choosing automatic renewal
up to 30 days before your current subscription ends - but you can’t renew on the last
day of your subscription

If you don’t renew your subscription before it ends, you’ll need to apply for a new DBS check
and register for the update service again.
The Licensing Authority requires all licensed drivers to subscribe to the DBS Update Service
and to maintain the annual subscription.
Licensed drivers will need to retain their DBS Certificate once they have subscribed as this
will need to be provided to the officer undertaking the online check.
DVLA
As driving is the predominant aspect of a licensed driver, the council needs to consider if
applicants hold a valid driving licence and if the licence holder has been issued any penalty
points.
Applicants and licensed drivers will be required to share information held about them by DVLA
via the online process.
Applicants and licensed drivers are required to register online with the DVLA share my licence
portal, and provide the access code to the council with their application and upon request. The
access code will provide the council with information regarding penalty points etc. As the
access code is only valid for a limited duration, drivers may be contacted and requested to
provide another code, to enable progression of their application.
A check will be required annually (each year by the anniversary date of the licence). Failure
to provide the access information by the anniversary date of the grant of a licence may result
in the suspension or revocation of the driver’s licence and referral to the Licensing Panel.
Consideration of penalty points and driving offences will be made in accordance with the
guidance relating to the relevance of convictions / cautions in relation to taxi licensing which
can be found at Appendix H.
Wheelchair Assessment Training
Drivers driving a wheelchair accessible vehicle (WAV) (applicable to all drivers driving a
Hackney carriage) are required to complete a wheelchair assessment. A fee is required for
this assessment. All drivers who drive a WAV must be able to demonstrate a sufficient level
of competence in the loading and unloading, security and safety of wheelchair users.
All new drivers and renewals are required to submit a certificate of completion with their
application. Drivers renewing their licence are expected to book and complete the assessment
prior to submitting a renewal application and before the expiry of their licence.
Application process
Applicants must fully complete an application and provide the relevant paperwork required
and fee. Where supporting documentation is required to be submitted, only the original
document will be accepted, not photocopies or photographs of the original. Applicants who
deliberately fail to declare or who make false statements on the application form or during the
application process, may be subject to legal action if it constitutes fraud.

32

Applicants must be able to prove their immigration status and that they have a right to work in
the UK.
New applicants must complete and pass the drivers standards course.
Applicants who have criminal convictions, may submit an application with the enhanced DBS
check for consideration, prior to completing the rest of the application process. The convictions
and cautions will be assessed and the applicant will be provided with an indicative decision.
This does not prohibit the applicant from submitting a full application for a formal
determination.
When an applicant has fulfilled all the application criteria, they will be required to take a driving
assessment test, to assess driving ability, safety, control of the vehicle, awareness of controls
within the vehicle, without the use of satellite navigation equipment. This course must be
booked and arranged by the applicant.

New Drivers Check list:
A new Hackney Carriage/Private Hire driver’s licence application must be accompanied by
evidence of the following:















Completion of the drivers training course
Application form declaring any convictions / endorsements and that the applicant has
the right to work in the UK
Enhanced DBS Disclosure
An Immigration check
The National Register for Revocations and Refusals will be checked (Please refer to
Appendix N)
Medical to Group 2 Standards
Full Driving Licence held for at least 12 months
Completion of Safeguarding assessment
1 Passport Photograph
Wheelchair Assessment Certificate (Hackney Carriage Vehicle drivers)
Certificate of Good Conduct may be required
DVLA authorisation
Code of Conduct Authorisation
English language qualification

Renewal of Drivers Licences
Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Drivers licences are issued for three years. Each licensed
drivers DVLA licence is checked at least once a year, to ensure drivers still have full
entitlements to drive and also to check any endorsements.
It is a requirement that all licensed drivers are signed up to the DBS online checking service.
A check of driver’s disclosure will be made at least once a year.

33

Upon renewal all drivers must have renewed their safeguarding training certificate and provide
evidence of this. Please refer to Appendix M.
A group two medical is also required every 3 years, if a medical is outstanding at the time of
the drivers licence renewal, the licence will not be issued .The driver is required to submit their
renewal before the expiry of their licence.
An immigration check is completed upon renewal.
If a driver does not fall within officer’s delegated powers to grant the licence renewals, the
driver will be invited to attend a Licensing Panel for a review of the renewal. It will be a decision
of the Licensing Panel as to whether or not to grant the licence.

Drivers Expectations
The council and the travelling public expect licensed drivers to provide good customer service
and behave in a civil and courteous manner. They are expected to be clean and smart in their
appearance. The vehicle must also be clean, presentable and roadworthy. They are expected
to provide reasonable assistance with luggage or shopping and provide a written receipt if
requested with no extra charge. Arrive at the appointed time and not prolong any journey. As
professional occupational drivers, they are expected to drive with consideration to other road
users and weather conditions.
Drivers must be aware of and comply with the conditions applied by this council and other
appropriate legislation. Drivers who fail to observe these requirements may be subject to
enforcement action.
Hackney carriage drivers are conditioned by way of Byelaws. A copy of the Byelaws can be
found at Appendix C.
Drivers must not operate any equipment which may distract them whilst driving. Drivers must
not cause annoyance to passengers during the journey by playing music or constantly talking
on a hands free mobile phone.
Drivers must be aware of their obligations under the Equality Act to provide a service and
assistance to passengers with mobility problems, disabilities and to take assistance dogs,
without extra charge.
Drivers who refuse or fail to take assistance dogs without an exemption certificate may be
prosecuted by the passenger and may also be subject to enforcement action by the council.
The council condemns discriminatory behaviour which is harassing, racist, religiously
motivated, homophobic, sexist, or in any way offensive to disability or gender. Complaints of
this nature are taken particularly seriously. The council does not have any power over
passengers who use licensed vehicles, but will give support to the trade where possible.
Drivers who experience any of the above behaviour should report it to the police.
Licensed drivers must ensure that they fully consider the safety of the passenger, other road
users, parking restrictions, street furniture and other hazards when stopping to allow a
passenger to alight the vehicle.
Driving for long periods of time, when sleepy or fatigued impairs driving ability, reduces
reaction time, vigilance, alertness, concentration, is dangerous and increases the risk of

34

accidents. Licensed drivers have a duty to make a conscious decision to take regular rest
periods, to ensure their own safety and the safety of the travelling and general public.
Licensed drivers must not drive if they are taking medication which impairs their judgement or
driving ability.
Exemption certificate
Drivers may apply for an exemption certificate if, for health reasons, they are unable to convey
assistance dogs due to a medical condition which is for example aggravated by exposure to
dogs, or they cannot provide physical assistance to passengers in wheelchairs. Drivers who
have a medical condition, a disability or physical condition which makes it impossible or
unreasonably difficult to provide the service, may apply for an exemption certificate.
The council will only consider exemption applications which are accompanied with a medical
report signed by a registered medical practitioner. The period of the exemption certificate will
be individually determined based on the medical practitioner's recommendation.
Where an exemption application has been considered and approved by the council, the driver
will be issued with an exemption certificate and an exemption notice. The exemption notice
must be displayed in the vehicle on the nearside of and immediately behind the windscreen of
the vehicle, in a manner that readily permits its removal, so that its front is clearly visible from
the outside of the vehicle and its back is clearly visible from the driver's seat of the vehicle,
when they are driving. The exemption notice must be removed prior to another licensed driver
driving the vehicle. Failure to display the notice could leave the driver open to prosecution, if
they then do not comply with the requirements of the Equality Act.
Only one exemption notice should be displayed in a vehicle at any one time.
If an exemption application is refused, the applicant will be informed in writing providing
reasons for the decision to refuse. Applicants who have been refused an exemption can
appeal the refusal to the Magistrates Court.
Drivers who have been issued with an exemption certificate must inform proprietors or
operators that they have the exemption, to avoid any unnecessary distress or delay to
passengers.
Licensed drivers of designated WAV vehicles who fail to comply with the duties under section
165 of the Equality Act will be subject to enforcement action. Drivers convicted of failure to
comply with this section are unlikely to be considered a ‘fit and proper’ person.

Assistance Dogs
Under the Equality Act 2010, licensed drivers of taxis and private hire vehicles are under a
duty to carry passengers with guide, hearing and other assistance dogs without additional
charge. When carrying such passengers, drivers have a duty to:
a) Convey the disabled passenger’s dog and allow it to remain under the physical control of
the owner
b) Not to make any additional charge for doing so.

35

It is best practice to ask the passenger where they want themselves and their dog to sit in the
vehicle.
Under the Equality Act 2010, it is an offence for any operator or driver to refuse to carry
assistance dogs or to charge more for the fare or booking. On conviction for such an offence,
drivers can be fined up to £1,000 and have their licence revoked.
To ensure that the Equality Act 2010 is upheld, the Licensing Authority will have a zero
tolerance policy to access refusals. The council will investigate all reported violations of the
Act.

Obligations of a Taxi Driver to Carry Disabled Persons using Wheelchairs
The Council is committed to an accessible public transport system in which disabled people
can enjoy the same opportunities to travel as other members of society. Taxis are a vital link
in the accessible transport chain and it is important that disabled people who use wheelchairs
can have confidence that the taxi they find on a rank, or hail on the street, will accept them
and carry them in their wheelchair at no extra charge.
The Council has determined that it shall provide an exemption to these duties, to drivers who
have medical conditions which are aggravated by assisting people in wheelchairs. The Council
is responsible for issuing exemption certificates and needs to be satisfied that it is appropriate
to do on medical grounds and whether to issue an exemption certificate.
Driver’s duties are:
(a) To carry the passenger while they remain in the wheelchair;
(b) Not to make any additional charge for doing so;
(c) If the passenger chooses to sit in a passenger seat, to carry the wheelchair;
(d) To take such steps as are necessary to ensure the passenger is carried in safely and in
reasonable comfort;
(e) To give such assistance as may be reasonably required;
(i) To enable the passenger to get into or out of the vehicle;
(ii) If the passenger wishes to remain in their wheelchair, to enable them to be conveyed into
and out of the vehicle while in their wheelchair;
(iii) To load the passenger’s luggage into or out of the vehicle;
(iv) If the passenger does not wish to remain in their wheelchair, to load the wheelchair into or
out of the vehicle.

Drivers acting as a delivery driver or collecting deliveries
Licensed Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Drivers are not expected to act as a delivery
driver or collect deliveries on behalf of passengers. Where a passenger has requested a
driver to obtain a package/delivery on their behalf due to a disability this may be considered
as appropriate by the driver whist the passenger is seated within the vehicle. A licensed driver
must not purchase or obtain alcohol from a licensed premises on behalf of any occupant in
the vehicle or act as a delivery driver to obtain alcohol on instruction of a customer who has
made a telephone booking.

36

Complaints and investigations
In the interests of public safety, the council has a duty to ensure that licensed drivers remain
fit and proper and will intervene where appropriate. Complaints made to the council are
recorded and monitored.
Where serious complaints, which question a driver’s fit and proper status are received, they
are investigated and appropriate action is taken. Less serious complaints and minor
infringements are not investigated to the same degree, but the accumulation of several
complaints and infringements about the same driver could highlight that there is a cause for
concern. It could highlight a training need, a lack of understanding of conditions or legislation,
or a failure to provide good customer care.
Each case will be determined individually. When such circumstances occur the Driver may
be referred to the Licensing Panel for their consideration.
Hackney carriage Drivers
Hackney carriage drivers waiting on taxi ranks, are required to operate a first in the queue
system. So that when a customer approaches, the taxi at the front of the rank will expect to
take that passenger. Whilst this system generally works without incident, drivers are advised
that the customer may, for whatever reason, choose not to take the first taxi at the rank.
The customer has the choice in this situation, drivers who, whilst waiting on a rank, refuse or
neglect to drive without reasonable cause are committing an offence.
Drivers are also advised that it is an offence to leave their vehicle unattended on a rank.
Right of Appeal
Under S 61 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976, the council can
suspend, revoke or refuse to renew a hackney carriage/private hire driver’s licence. The
driver has the right of appeal to the Magistrates Court within 21 days.
Immediate suspension/ revocation
The council has the power under S 61 (2B) of the Local Government (Miscellaneous
Provisions) Act 1976, to immediately suspend or revoke a hackney carriage/private hire
drivers licence where it is in the interest of public safety. In this instance a driver must cease
working immediately. A driver has the right of appeal as stated above.

37

GENERAL PROVISIONS FOR PRIVATE HIRE OPERATORS
The legislation requires any person, who in the course of business makes provision for the
invitation or acceptance of bookings for a private hire vehicle, must be licensed as a private
hire operator.
Any individual, partnership, company or other body that advertises the services of a private
hire vehicle, provided with a driver, for hire and reward, is required to be licensed as an
operator.
The acceptance of bookings may be provided for by a variety of methods, such as, in person,
by telephone, text, email, internet, smart phone app, in writing, or by any other communication
means.
The legislation requires the authority to only licence operators who are considered to be fit
and proper to hold an operator’s licence and who are not disqualified by reason of their
immigration status.
All work undertaken by private hire vehicles (and drivers), must be pre-booked via a licensed
operator. All three licences (private hire vehicle, private hire driver and operator) must be
issued by the same local authority.
Operators can only utilise drivers and vehicles that are correctly licensed. Operators who fail
to ensure that the drivers and vehicles they utilise have valid licenses, are guilty of an offence
and will be subject to enforcement action.
An operator's licence is usually granted for a five year duration, but may be granted for a lesser
duration if requested to do so in writing or if the applicant's immigration status limits it to a
shorter duration.
There is no provision within the legislation to transfer an operator's licence. New applicants
must be subject to the fit and proper test and new premises must also be assessed for
suitability.
An operator's licence cannot be issued to persons who do not have the right to work in the
UK. A licence ceases to be in force if the person to whom it was granted becomes disqualified
by reason of their immigration status. Where this applies, the person must immediately cease
to operate and return their operator's licence to the council within 7 days.
Licensed operators may accept bookings and may subcontract these bookings, but only to
another licensed operator. However, the operator who accepted the initial booking remains
responsible for that booking.
Operators are required by law to keep a record of bookings and records relating to each and
every vehicle operated by the operator. Records of bookings must be made before the
commencement of the journey. All such records must be made available to an authorised
officer for inspection. Further information can be found in the Operator's conditions at
Appendix F.
Application – suitability of applicant
Operators are generally the owners of the private hire business. They have access to private
information, are responsible for ensuring they only utilise properly licensed, insured and safe

38

vehicles and drivers, therefore the council is required to ensure that they are also fit and
proper.
The council requires applicants to complete the application and submit it with the appropriate
fee, with supporting documentation, which will be used to establish that they are fit and proper
to hold an operator’s licence. The supporting documents must be the originals, not
photocopies or photographs.
Operators (who are not also licensed drivers), are required to submit a basic DBS disclosure.
The basic disclosure will list any current convictions and cautions, but nothing which is
considered spent under the Rehabilitation of Offenders Act. As operators do not necessarily
have close contact with vulnerable persons, but do have access to personal information.
Applicants for operator’s licences are required to provide details of their name and address.
The address where they intend to operate the business, any trade or business activities s/he
has carried on before making the application, any prior applications made for an operator's
licence, if any prior operator's licence has been suspended or revoked, details of any
convictions. This includes any convictions where applicants or those associated in running the
business have been convicted of any offences. This is to ensure that those involved in the
operation of the business are fit and proper to operate a business.
Applicants who intend to operate a radio system will be required to provide proof of their
licence from Ofcom.
The council will not grant a licence to an operator whose premises are located outside our
area. This is to ensure that proper regulation and enforcement measures may be taken by the
council and is in no way intended to be a restraint of trade.
Suitability of premises
When considering an application for an operator's licence at a new premises, consideration
will be given to the location, the vicinity, facilities, parking arrangements, planning permission
etc. to ensure that the grant of a licence will not negatively impact on the surrounding area,
including businesses, residents and the general public.
Operators intending to operate from new premises will be required to submit with their
application proof of planning permission, or proof that planning permission is not required.
Where planning permission is required, operators must comply with any condition attached to
such permission. Whilst any breach of planning legislation will be enforced by the planning
department, it may also be used in consideration of an operator's fit and proper status.
Operators responsibilities and obligations
Operators are responsible for keeping accurate records of bookings and retaining them for a
period of not less than six months. These records must detail required information about each
booking taken and fulfilled by the operator. Further information is contained within the
operator's conditions attached at Appendix F.
If an operator subcontracts a booking to another licensed operator, both operators must keep
a record of the booking. The operator who accepted the initial booking remains fully
responsible for that journey even though it has been subcontracted to another licensed
operator. The initial operator must record what checks they made to ensure that the operator
they passed the booking onto is correctly licensed.

39

Regardless of which operator fulfils the booking, the operator can only dispatch a vehicle
licensed by the same authority that licenses the operator and driven by a driver also licensed
by that same authority.
It is not expected that subcontracting of bookings would be commonplace. Customers who
book through an operator licensed in the district would expect a vehicle and driver also
licensed by this authority. The conditions and standards applied by other licensing authorities
are different to those applied by this authority, therefore, may not meet the licensing
requirements of this authority.
The customer has the choice of which operator they book through. This means that the
customer may choose an operator licensed by a neighbouring authority, known as cross
border hiring. The legislation permits these bookings and the council cannot get involved in
these private hire contracts. Operators should aspire to ensure that their drivers and vehicles
provide the highest standard of service, so that they are the operator of choice.
Operators need to be aware of their obligations when it comes to data protection. Where
databases containing personal information, such as records of bookings are maintained
electronically or if they have CCTV, they are required to be registered with the Information
Commissioner's Office (ICO). Further information including a self-assessment, can be found
on the following links;
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/register/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/register/self-assessment/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-data-protection/cctv/
Operators must ensure they have all the correct insurances in place for the vehicles and
drivers they utilise. Those who provide a waiting area for customers must ensure that they
have valid public liability insurance.
Operators must make customers fully aware of any additional charges which may be applied,
e.g. for waiting time and for cleaning a soiled vehicle. These additional charges must be clearly
displayed in the operator's office and website where available.
Operators are responsible for ensuring that the vehicles utilised are clean, fit for the purpose
of the booking and comply with the conditions applied by this council. It is expected that
operators have a planned maintenance programme in place for all vehicles it utilises. The
testing requirements applied by this council are to confirm a level of safety and quality, rather
than to highlight what maintenance needs to be carried out.
The council encourages all private hire operators to include wheelchair accessible vehicles
amongst their fleet. They must ensure that no additional costs or charges are levied by them
or their drivers for conveying disabled passengers or assistance dogs.
Operators who provide wheelchair accessible vehicles must ensure that the driver is
appropriately trained to safely load, unload and convey passengers in a safe and secure
manner. This training must be documented and refreshed at suitable intervals. These training
records must be available for inspection by an authorised officer.
Operators must ensure that the drivers they utilise are fit and proper to carry out the bookings
and are appropriately trained for their role. Operators should be able to demonstrate how they
will achieve this by way of a policy to include any training (or checks) provided by the operator,
customer service company policies and practices, including disability awareness.
Operators must be aware of their obligations under the Immigration Act and only utilise
persons who have the right to work in the UK. Failure to observe this requirement or to provide

40

due diligence checks may be subject to enforcement action by the relevant Home Office
department.

41

Vehicle Age and Emissions Standards
The purpose of these standards are to ensure Hackney Carriage and Private Hire vehicles
are as safe, reliable and comfortable as possible while at the same time minimising emissions.
The standards aim to have a positive impact on emissions as it is recognised that the age of
vehicles and the exhaust emission specification are critical to the level of pollutants emitted.
Consequently, to improve air quality and reduce emissions from the taxi fleet, standards
relating to the exhaust emissions have been introduced in addition to the requirements
regarding the age of vehicles.
In order to be licensed, a vehicle must meet both the age and emissions criteria.
Applications to licence vehicles which fall outside of the standards will be considered on their
own merits.

Vehicle Age
At first application – A new licensed vehicle must be less than 5 years old from the date of
the first DVLA registration.
At renewal - Vehicle licences will not be renewed in respect of any licensed vehicle that was
first registered more than 10 years prior to the date of renewal or 12 years in the case of
purpose-built or fully wheelchair accessible vehicles. This applies where a vehicle is currently
licensed and there is no break in licensing.
A vehicle may be considered for a licence renewal beyond these upper age limits if it is in
‘exceptional condition’. The criteria for meeting this standard are below.
All vehicles age 5 years (from the date of first DVLA registration) will be subject to six
monthly MOT inspections.

Exceptional Condition Criteria
A vehicle will be considered to be in ‘exceptional condition’ if ALL of the following apply:
1. The vehicle must not have failed the Council’s vehicle inspection or standard MOT on any
significant item within the previous five years. For the purposes of this criterion, a significant
item is defined as any item that would cost more than £30.00 to correct.
2. The bodywork is in near perfect condition with no signs of panel age deterioration, dents,
scratches, stone chips, or rust or any other abrasions that may detract from the overall
appearance of the vehicle.
3. The general paint condition should show no signs of fading, discolouration or mismatching
that may detract from the overall appearance of the vehicle.
4. The interior trim, panels, seating and carpets and upholstery are in excellent condition,
clean and free from damage and discolouration.
5. The boot or luggage compartment is in good condition, clean and undamaged.
6. Passenger areas are free from damp and any unpleasant odours that may cause passenger
discomfort.
7. The vehicle is in excellent mechanical condition and in all respects be safe and roadworthy,
with no signs of corrosion to the mechanical parts, chassis, underside or bodywork.
8. The vehicle must have a complete service record to show that it has been properly serviced
and maintained in accordance with the manufacturer’s service specification.
9. The vehicle passes the council’s vehicle inspection.

42

The first eight criteria will be checked by an officer of the Council and the proprietor of the
vehicle must provide all the necessary documentation to support their request for a vehicle
licence to be granted outside of this policy. An appointment will need to be made for this and
a fee will be charged.
If the first eight criteria are satisfied then the proprietor of the vehicle must book and pay for
the Council’s approved vehicle inspection from a nominated garage and produce the pass
certificate to the Council.

Emissions Standards
At first application – 01/04/2020 Vehicles must meet one of the following:
Euro 4 emissions standards.
ULEV Petrol Hybrid Euro 5 +
Petrol Euro 5 + (Any vehicle registered from 1st Sept 2009 onwards)
Diesel Euro 6 + (Any vehicle registered from 1st Sept 2014 onwards)
From 01/04/2022 vehicles must meet the following:
ULEV Petrol Hybrid Euro 5 +
Petrol Euro 5 + (Any vehicle registered from 1st Sept 2009 onwards)
Diesel Euro 6 + (Any vehicle registered from 1st Sept 2014 onwards)
At Renewal
From 01/12/2020 vehicle licences will not be renewed in respect of any licensed vehicle that
does not meet or exceed Euro 4 emissions standards.
From 01/04/2025 vehicle licences will not be renewed in respect of any licensed vehicle that
does not meet the following:
ULEV Petrol Hybrid Euro 5+
Petrol Euro 5 +
Diesel Euro 6 +
(including vehicles adapted with a retrofit to an agreed approved standard & hackneys only
may apply for departure from policy)
From 2032 all new and renewal vehicles must meet the following:
ULEV Petrol Hybrid Euro 5+
Notwithstanding that each application will be considered on its own merits.

+ Includes all vehicles that will meet a higher standard than the euro emission standard
specified
ULEV = Ultra Low Emission Vehicle (<75g/km and 10km zero emission capability)
The Council will consider & implement incentives to promote the cleanest technologies less than 75 g/km and at least 10 km zero emissions
When will the different criteria be applied?
If the licence of a currently licensed Hackney Carriage or Private Hire Vehicle is allowed to
EXPIRE by its proprietor then any subsequent application will NOT be considered as a
renewal. This means that where an existing vehicle licences expires, a subsequent application

43

for a licence for that vehicle will be treated as a first time application and the standards and
criteria relating to first time applications will be applied.
Low Emission and Electric Vehicles
The Council encourages the uptake of ultra-low emission vehicles within the District and
proposed to finally implement all vehicles to be ultra-low emissions by 2032. The authority will
seek to examine the feasibility of introducing schemes which help improve the charging
network and assist drivers and operators to make decisions when purchasing new vehicles.
Rapid re-charging points for use by the public will be available within the district from 2020.

44

Hackney Carriage Vehicle Licence Conditions
No vehicle will be authorised as a Hackney Carriage Vehicle unless it conforms with the
requirements as set out within this document unless; where justifiable reasons exist the
committee may decide to approve the vehicle.
Hackney carriage vehicles are subject to comply with the conditions attached to a licence and
to the council’s bylaws in respect of hackney carriages.
Vehicles offered for Hackney Carriage approval must be constructed in a way as to allow the
carriage of disabled persons and must accommodate as a minimum, a disabled person in a
Department of Transport reference wheelchair in the passenger compartment.
No material alteration or change in the specification, design, condition or appearance of the
vehicle shall be made once a vehicle has been inspected and a licence granted, at any time
while the licence is in force and at all times the vehicle shall comply with the conditions of the
Council for a licensed Hackney Carriage. (Vehicles which have been modified in any way from
the manufacturer’s standard of construction may not be considered suitable for licensing
purposes depending upon the nature of the modification).
The vehicle must meet the criteria set out in the Council’s Vehicle Age and Emissions Policy.
Please see Appendix A.
Every vehicle must be maintained in a safe and clean condition at all times and is subject to
such examinations as are required by the Council.

General Construction
Every new type of Hackney Carriage Vehicle must comply with the requirements of any Acts
and Regulations relating to motor vehicles in force at the time of approval including the Motor
Vehicle (Type Approval) Regulations 1980, and the Motor Vehicles (Construction and Use)
Regulations 1984.
Every new type of Hackney Carriage Vehicle offered for approval must comply in all respects
with British and European vehicle regulations and be “type approved” to the requirements of
the M1 category of European Whole Type Approval Directive 70/156/EEC as amended. Those
Hackney Carriage Vehicles which have not been “type approved” to the M1 category (e.g.
conversions) must be presented with approved certification that the specific vehicle meets the
requirements of those categories.
No equipment and/or fittings, other than those approved by the Local Authority may be
attached to, or carried on the inside or outside of the vehicle.
No modification may be carried out to a Hackney Carriage Vehicle without prior approval from
the Licensing Authority.
Steering
The steering wheel must be on the offside of the vehicle.
Tyres

45

All tyres must comply with the relevant legislation and be marked accordingly.
Tyres must be of the designated size, speed and weight rating for that make and model of
vehicle as prescribed by the vehicle manufacturer.

Spare Wheel
A spare wheel shall be fitted and carried at all times the vehicle is licensed
The spare wheel must comply with the vehicle manufacturers’ specification.
All tyres, including the spare where one is provided, must be kept to “MOT standard” at all
times.
Re-cut tyres are not permitted.
The spare wheel shall be stored in accordance with the original design of the vehicle in its
purpose-designed carrier and in all cases outside of any contact with passenger(s) travelling
in the vehicle.
Brakes
An anti-lock braking system is to be fitted.
Interior lighting
Adequate lighting must be provided for the driver and passengers.
Separate lighting controls for both passenger and driver must be provided. In the case of the
passenger compartment, an illuminated control switch must be fitted in an approved position.
This must be within reach of wheelchair passengers. Lighting must also be provided at floor
level to each passenger door and be activated by the opening of the doors.
Fuel Systems
Any engine powered by liquid petroleum gas (LPG), compressed natural gas (CNG), liquid
natural gas (LNG), petrol or any combination of these fuels must be fitted with an automatic
inertia fuel cut off device.
An applicant applying for a licence involving a vehicle which has been converted will be
required to produce prior to a licence being granted a certificated issued by the relevant
association confirming that the conversion is safe.
Exhaust emissions standards
New taxi models must meet the current and relevant EC Directive for exhaust emissions, i.e.
the respective Euro standard. Licensed Hackney Carriages must meet prescribed emissions
standards. Please see Appendix A for Emission standards.
Body

46

The body must be of the fixed head type with a partially glazed partition separating the
passenger from the driver.
A vehicle should not be of such a length which takes up excessive space on a rank and in any
case the vehicle must not be in excess of 5 metres in length.
Bodywork and wheel trims
The body work shall be in good condition and shall be as originally fitted by the manufacturer.
Wheel trims where fitted must be fitted to all road wheels.
The body work must be maintained to a good condition, paintwork must be sound and well
maintained and free of corrosion, inferior respray work and ‘cover up’ temporary repairs.
All rust spots and scratches/dents and repairs with a measurement in excess of 10mm must
be prepared and repainted with matching colour to ensure they are returned to as near original
condition as possible so that no visible evidence of repair or restoration is detectable.
No panels to have dents, tears, or creases or be of odd colour.
Decals or stickers or any other means must not be used to cover bodywork defects or damage.
The vehicle tester reserves the right to ask that any such material be removed if he/she has
reason to believe that any attempt has been made to cover up vehicle damage, so the vehicle
bodywork can be properly inspected.
Facilities for the disabled
Every taxi must be equipped to approved standards in order that wheelchair passengers may
be carried.
The vehicle shall have a designated space capable of accepting a reference wheelchair
The reference wheelchair has a:


total length of 1200mm, including extra-long footplates



total width of 700mm



sitting height (from ground to top of head) of 1350mm



height of footrest above floor of 150mm
The space for a wheelchair shall be immediately adjacent to a vehicle door.
Approved anchorages must be provided for wheelchair tie downs and the wheelchair
passenger restraint. These anchorages must be either chassis or floor linked and capable of
withstanding approved dynamic or static tests. Restraints for wheelchair and occupant must
be independent of each other.
Anchorages must also be provided for the safe stowage of a wheelchair when not in use,
whether folded or otherwise, if carried within the passenger compartment. All anchorages and
restraints must be so designed that they do not cause any danger to other passengers.
The vehicle shall have a minimum of 2 means of exit from the passenger compartment.

47

The door and doorway must be so constructed as to permit an unrestricted opening across
the doorway of at least 750 mm (75cm). The minimum angle of a hinged door when opened
must be 90 degrees.
The clear height of the doorway must be not less than 1.2 metres.
Grab handles must be placed at door entrances to assist the elderly and disabled. All grab
handles must be in a high visibility contrasting colour and be of non-slip finish.
The top of the tread for any entrance should normally be at floor level of the passenger
compartment and comply with the following requirements:
a. be not more than 380mm (38cm)from the ground, (measured at the centre of the tread
width);
b. the surface shall be covered in a slip-resistant material;
c. have a band of colour across the entire width of the edge which shall contrast with the
remainder of the tread and floor covering.
Should any entrance be more than 380mm (38cm) from the ground, an external interim step
must be made available when the associated passenger door is opened and comply with the
following requirementsa. not be more than 380mm (38cm) in height from the ground, (measured at the centre of the
step width;
b. not be less than 250mm (25cm) deep;
c. the surface shall be covered in a slip-resistant material;
d. have a band of colour across its leading edge which shall contrast with the remainder of the
step and floor covering;
e. not be capable of operation whilst the vehicle is in motion;
f. if automatic or powered, be fitted with a safety device which stops the motion of the step if
the step is subject to a reactive force not exceeding 150N in any direction and if that motion
could cause injury to the passenger;
g. can fold or retract so that it does not project beyond the side face of the vehicle and the
vehicle is not capable of being driven away unless the step is so folded or retracted.
The vertical distance between the highest part of the floor and the roof in the passenger
compartment must not be less than 1.3 metres.
Where seats are placed facing each other, there must be a minimum space of 350mm
between any part of the front of a seat and any part of any other seat which faces it, provided
adequate foot room is maintained at floor level.
Where all seats are placed facing to the front of the vehicle, there must be clear space of at
least 66cm in front of every part of each seat squab, measured along a horizontal plane at the
centre of the cushion.
A ramp for the loading of a wheelchair and occupant must be available at all times for use, as
a minimum, at the nearside passenger door on all new vehicles presented for licensing. The
ramp must be 700mm (70cm) wide, as a minimum, and comprise a single non-slip surface. It
is desirable for this facility to be available at the offside passenger door also. An adequate
locking device must be fitted to ensure that the ramp does not slip or tilt when in use. Provision
must be made for the ramp to be stowed safely when not in use.
Rear loading of wheelchairs is not permitted.
A mechanism shall be fitted that positively holds the access door in the open position whilst in
use particularly if the vehicle is on a slope and such that requires a deliberate effort to close.

48

Passenger compartment
The vehicle shall have a minimum seating capacity of 4 passengers up to a maximum of 8
passengers and be capable of accommodating at least one passengers confined to a
wheelchair.
Occasional seats must be at least 400mm (40cm) in width and the distance from the back of
the upholstery to the front edge of the seat must be not less than 350mm (35cm).
Occasional seats must be so arranged as to rise automatically when not in use. When not in
use, they must not obstruct doorways.
All passenger seats shall be permanently fixed to the vehicle.
The near-side occasional seat must be of swivel type in order to accommodate the needs of
passengers with physical disabilities.
The rear seat dimensions must be adequate to carry the appropriate number of adult
passengers comfortably.
Suitable means must be provided to assist persons to rise from the rear seat with particular
attention to the needs of the elderly and disabled.
Lap and diagonal seatbelts must be fitted on all seats (including rear facing seats).
Colour contrasting sight patches are required on all passenger seats.
Head restraints must be fitted for all (forward and rear facing) seats. The design of headrests
should maximise rear sightlines for the driver when any of the passenger seats are not
occupied.
An induction loop system (or equivalent) must be fitted.
Driver’s compartment
The driver’s compartment must be so designed that the driver has adequate room, can easily
reach, and quickly operate, the controls.
The controls must be so placed as to allow reasonable access to the driver’s seat and, when
centrally placed, controls must be properly protected from contact with luggage.
Every vehicle must be provided with an approved means of communication between the
passenger and the driver. If a sliding window is fitted on the glazed partition, the maximum
width of the opening must not exceed 115mm (11.5cm).
Where a single-piece glazed partition is fitted, a facility must be provided for making payment
to the driver.
Visibility – Driver
A single-piece, full width rear window must be fitted. The design of headrests should maximise
rear sightlines for the driver when any of the passenger seats are not occupied.
Visibility – Passenger

49

The windows should maximise passenger visibility into and out of the vehicle.
The vehicle shall have windows fitted throughout on both sides of the vehicle and to the rear
of the passenger compartment.
The bottom of the window line for front and side windows must be low enough to afford
passengers adequate visibility out of the vehicle.
Passenger windows must be capable of being opened easily by passengers, including those
in wheelchairs, when seated. The control for opening a window must be clearly identified to
prevent it being mistaken for any other control.
A proportion of the window area in the passenger compartment must be available for opening
by the seated passenger.
Windows must permit maximum visibility into, and out of, the vehicle.
Only original manufacturers approved glazing shall be permitted. The light transmitted through
the windscreen must be at least 75%.
The front side windows must allow at least 70% of light to be transmitted through them.
There shall be no restrictions regarding levels of tint of the rear passenger windows and rear
windscreen of vehicle, however windows must be of manufactures specification and must not
be changed or have extra tinting applied. Tinted films or spray coatings applied to the vehicle
windows are not permitted.

Heating and ventilation
An adequate heating and ventilation system must be provided for the driver and passengers
and means provided for independent control by the driver and the passengers. All switches
must be within easy reach of seated passengers, including those in wheelchairs.
Door fittings
An approved type of automatic door securing device must be fitted to passenger doors to
prevent them being opened when the vehicle is in motion.
When the vehicle is stationary, the passenger doors must be capable of being readily opened
from the inside and outside of the vehicle by one operation of the latch mechanism.
The door must not open from the inside if the driver has the foot brake depressed.
The interior door handle must be clearly identified to prevent it being mistaken for any other
control.
Rear doors must not obscure any mandatory rear lights when luggage is being loaded or
unloaded.
Rear doors when in the open position must not be a hazard to other road users.
Table of Fares
The current Table of Fares shall be displayed in the vehicle so as to be easily and clearly read
by any passenger.

50

Licence Plates
A Hackney Carriage vehicle shall have fitted in a visible and securely fixed position to the rear
exterior of the vehicle, a licence plate issued by the council. An additional smaller licence
plate shall also be securely fitted to the front windscreen so that the information can be viewed
both internally and externally.
Any external licence plate issued by the council will include the following information:
Licence Number
Registration Number
Licence Expiry Date
Number of passengers
A plate provided by the Council identifying the vehicle as a Hackney Carriage vehicle must be
securely fixed to the outside the vehicle at the rear in such a manner that the plate is not
obscured from view by any fixtures or fittings.
The plate shall be capable of being removed by a constable or authorised Officer of the Council
should the Licence be suspended or revoked. Drivers are reminded that it is an offence to
drive a licensed Hackney Carriage vehicle whilst not being in possession of a current Hackney
Carriage and Private Hire Driver’s licence.
Safety equipment
All licensed vehicles must have a suitable and efficient fire extinguisher and first aid kit
containing appropriate first aid dressings and appliances. Such equipment must be in date
and carried in such a position in the vehicle as to be readily available and visible for immediate
use in an emergency.
The fire extinguisher must be a 1kg or 2kg Multi-Purpose dry power fire extinguisher to BS
EN3 standard. It should be readily accessible without delay and the responsibility of the driver
to ensure that they are able to use the fire extinguisher in their vehicle.
The vehicle must have emergency equipment within the vehicle which is available to the driver
that is maintained and working. This must include as a minimum requirement:
 a torch
 a warning triangle that meets European Standards
 Florescent and reflective tabards which are for use at night and in poor visibility
which meets European Standards, one must be available for the driver and one
for each passenger the vehicle is permitted to carry.
The vehicle and all its fittings and equipment must, at all times when the vehicle is in use or
available for hire, be kept in an efficient, safe, tidy and clean condition and all relevant statutory
requirements must be fully complied with.

Floor covering
The flooring of the passenger compartment must be covered with a slip resistant material,
which can be easily cleaned.

51

The floor covering must not impede the movement of wheelchairs. The colour of the floor
covering must contrast with any up-stand areas around it and with the colour of the seats.
All floor areas shall be free of steps, encumbrances or trip hazards.
Luggage
Suitable dedicated provision for the secure carriage of luggage must be made, separated from
the passenger compartment and proportionate in size to the number of passengers carried.
There shall be a luggage compartment situated at the front or rear of the vehicle. If at the front
it must be forward of a bulkhead/safety screen and on the opposite side of the driving
compartment. The luggage compartment must be divided off by a barrier capable of
preventing any luggage from entering the driving compartment or rear passenger
compartment.
A suitable restraint system shall be provided so as to minimise any movement of luggage
whilst in transit.
Taximeter
The vehicle shall be provided with a taximeter which must be so constructed, attached and
maintained as to comply with the requirements of the Council: all taximeters must be calendar controlled, approved and sealed.
 the taximeter shall be so placed that all letters and figures on the face thereof are at
all times plainly visible to any person being conveyed in the vehicle and for that
purpose the letters and figures shall be capable of being suitably illuminated during
any period of hiring;
 the taximeter and all the fittings thereof shall be so affixed to the vehicle with seals or
other appliances that it shall not be practicable for any person to tamper with them
except by breaking, damaging or permanently displacing the seals or other appliances;
 the taximeter affixed to the vehicle shall be appropriately set to the Council’s hackney
carriage fare scale currently in force.
 a copy of the Table of Fares shall be displayed within the vehicle and visible to all
persons conveyed within the vehicle.
Taxi Roof Sign
A “Taxi” roof sign approved by the council must be fitted and be clearly visible daytime and
night time when the taxi is available for hire.
Radio Equipment
Where equipment for the operation of a two-way radio system is fitted to a taxi, no part of the
apparatus may be fixed in the passenger compartment or in the rear boot compartment if LPG
tanks or equipment are situated therein.
Any other radio equipment, either in the passenger or driver compartment, must be approved
by the council.
Electrical Equipment

52

Any additional or non-standard electrical installation to the original vehicle must be installed
and tested by a professional installer and be protected by a suitably rated fuse. Any additional
installation must comply with all relevant regulations.
The licensing authority must be notified prior to installing CCTV in a vehicle.
Licence Period
Hackney Carriage vehicle Licences shall be granted for a period of 12 months or such other
period as the Council may determine from time to time. Expired plates must be returned to the
council or retained by the appointed testing station upon renewal.
Dual Plating
The council does not allow dual plating of licensed vehicles.
Change of Address or Ownership of vehicle
The proprietor shall notify the Council in writing of any change of address during the period of
the licence within seven days of such change taking place. The proprietor must also complete
and submit the required application with fee, as soon as practically possible, and in any case
within 14 days, if they transfer ownership of the vehicle.
Vehicle Documentation
The proprietor of a Hackney Carriage vehicle licensed by the Council shall at the request of
an authorised Officer or any Police Constable produce for inspection the following
documentation within 7 days from the time the request is made at a place notified to the driver
by the authorised Officer or Police Constable:
(a) a certificate of the policy of Insurance or security required by Part IV of the Road
Traffic Act 1988 or other enactment in respect of such Hackney Carriage vehicle;
(b) the Hackney Carriage Licence issued by the Council;
(c) a current Ministry of Transport Test Certificate (where applicable)
(d) the vehicle registration documents; and
(e) the driving licence issued by DVLA or acceptable equivalent defined by DVLA
Alteration of Vehicle
No material alteration or change in the specification, design, condition or appearance of the
vehicle shall be made without the approval of the Council at any time while the licence is in
force.
The colour of the vehicle must not be altered during the period that the vehicle is licensed.
No material alteration or change in the specification, design, condition or appearance of the
vehicle shall be made once a vehicle has been inspected and a licence granted, at any time
while the licence is in force and at all times the vehicle shall comply with the specifications of
the Council for a licensed hackney carriage vehicle. (Vehicles which have been modified in
any way from the manufacturer’s standard of construction may not be considered suitable for
licensing purposes depending upon the nature of the modification).

53

Byelaws
Byelaws made under Section 68 of the Town Police Clauses Act, 1847 and Section 171 of the Public
Health Act, 1875 by the Breckland District Council with respect to Hackney Carriages in the Breckland
District.
Interpretation
1. Throughout these byelaws "the Council" means the Breckland District Council and "the district" means
the Breckland district..
2.
Provisions regulating the manner in which the number of each hackney carriage, corresponding with the
number of its licence, shall be displayed
2. a. The proprietor of a hackney carriage shall cause the number of the licence granted to him in respect of the
carriage to be legibly painted or marked on the outside and inside respectively of the carriage, or on plates
affixed thereto.
b. A proprietor or driver of a hackney carriage shall:i. not willfully or negligently cause or suffer any such number to be concealed from public view while the carriage
is standing or plying for hire;
ii. not cause or permit the carriage to stand or ply for hire with any such painting, marking or plate so defaced
that any figure or material particular is illegible.
Provisions regulating how hackney carriages are to be furnished or provided
3. The proprietor of a hackney carriage shall:a. provide sufficient means by which any person in the carriage may communicate with the driver;
b. cause the roof or covering to be kept watertight;
c. provide any necessary windows and a means of opening and closing not less than one window on each side;
d. cause the seats to be properly cushioned or covered;
e. cause the floor to be provided with a proper carpet, mat, or other suitable covering;
f. cause the fittings and furniture generally to be kept in a clean condition, well maintained and in every way fit for
public service;
g. provide means for securing luggage if the carriage is so constructed as to carry luggage;
h. provide an efficient fire extinguisher which shall be carried in such a position as to be readily available for use;
i. provide at least two doors for the use of persons conveyed in such carriage and a separate means of ingress
and egress for the driver.
4. The proprietor of a hackney carriage shall cause the same to be provided with a taximeter so constructed,
attached, and maintained as to comply with the following requirements, that is to say:
a. the taximeter shall be fitted with a key, flag or other device the turning of which will bring the machinery of the
taximeter into action and cause the word "HIRED" to appear on the face of the taximeter;
b. such key, flag, or other device shall be capable of being locked in such a position that the machinery of the
taximeter is not in action and that no fare is recorded on the face of the taximeter;
c. when the machinery of the taximeter is in action there shall be recorded on the face of the taximeter in clearly
legible figures a fare not exceeding the rate or fare which the proprietor or driver is entitled to demand and take
for the hire of the carriage by distance in pursuance of the byelaw in that behalf;
d. the word "FARE" shall be printed on the face of the taximeter in plain letters so as clearly to apply to the fare
recorded thereon;
e. the taximeter shall be so placed that all letters and figures on the face thereof are at all times plainly visible to
any person being conveyed in the carriage, and for that purpose the letters and figures shall be capable of being
suitably illuminated during any period of hiring;
f. the taximeter and all the fittings thereof shall be so affixed to the carriage with seals or other appliances that it
shall not be practicable for any person to tamper with them except by breaking damaging or permanently
displaying the seals or other appliances.

54

Provisions regulating the conduct of the proprietors and drivers of hackney carriages plying within the
district in their several employments, and determining whether such drivers shall wear any and what
badges
5. The driver of a hackney carriage provided with a taximeter shall:a. when standing or plying for hire, keep the key, flag or other device fitted in pursuance of the byelaw in that
behalf locked in the position in which no fare is recorded on the face of the taximeter;
b. before beginning a journey for which a fare is charged for distance and time bring the machinery of the
taximeter into action by moving the said key, flag or other device so that the word "HIRED" is legible on the face
of the taximeter and keep the machinery of the taximeter in action until the termination of the hiring;
c. cause the dial of the taximeter to be kept properly illuminated throughout any part of a hiring which is during
the hours of darkness as defined for the purposes of the Road Traffic Act, 1972 and also at any other time at the
request of the hirer.
6. A proprietor or driver of a hackney carriage shall not tamper with or permit any person to tamper with any
taximeter with which the carriage is provided, with the fittings thereof, or with the seals affixed thereto.
7. The driver of a hackney carriage shall, when plying for hire in any street and not actually hired
a. proceed with reasonable speed to one of the stands fixed by the byelaw in that behalf;
b. if a stand, at the time of his arrival, is occupied by the full number of carriages authorised to occupy it, proceed
to another stand;
c. on arriving at a stand not already occupied by the full number of carriages authorised to occupy it, station the
carriage immediately behind the carriage or carriages on the stand and so as to face in the same direction;
d. from time to time when any other carriage immediately in front is driven off or moved forward cause his
carriage to be moved forward so as to fill the place previously occupied by the carriage driven off or moved
forward.
8. A proprietor or driver of a hackney carriage, when standing or plying for hire shall not, by calling out or
otherwise, importune any person to hire such carriage and shall not make use of the services of any other
person for the purpose.
9. The driver of a hackney carriage shall behave in a civil and orderly manner and shall take all reasonable
precautions to ensure the safety of persons conveyed in or entering or alighting from the vehicle.
10. The proprietor or driver of a hackney carriage who has agreed or has been hired to be in attendance with the
carriage at an appointed time and place shall, unless delayed or prevented by some sufficient cause, punctually
attend with such carriage at such appointed time and place.
11. The driver of a hackney carriage when hired to drive to any particular destination shall, subject to any
directions given by the hirer, proceed to that destination by the shortest available route.
12. A proprietor or driver of a hackney carriage shall not convey or permit to be conveyed in such carriage, any
greater number of persons than the number of persons specified on the licence for such carriage issued by the
Council.
13. If a badge has been provided by the Council and delivered to the driver of a hackney carriage, he shall when
standing, plying or driving for hire wear that badge in such position and manner as to be plainly and distinctly
visible.
14. The driver of a hackney carriage so constructed as to carry luggage shall, when requested by any person
hiring or seeking to hire the carriage
a. convey a reasonable quantity of luggage;
b. afford reasonable assistance in loading and unloading;
c. afford reasonable assistance in removing it to or from the entrance of any house, station or place at which he
may take up or set down such person.
Provisions fixing the rate of fare to be paid for hackney carriages within the district and securing the due
publication of fares
15. The proprietor or driver of a hackney carriage shall be entitled to demand and take for the hire of the carriage
the rate of fare prescribed, the rate of fare being calculated by distance unless the hirer expresses at the
commencement of the hiring his desire to engage by time.
Provided always that where a hackney carriage furnished with a taximeter shall be hired by distance the
proprietor or driver thereof shall not be entitled to demand and take a fare greater than that recorded on the face

55

of the taximeter save for any extra charges authorised which it may not be possible to record on the face of the
taximeter.
16. i. The proprietor of a hackney carriage for which any fares are fixed by any byelaw in that behalf shall:
a. cause a statement of such fares to be painted or marked on the inside of the carriage, or on a plate affixed
thereto, in clearly distinguishable letters and figures;
b. renew such letters and figures as often as is necessary to keep them clearly visible.
ii. The proprietor or driver of a hackney carriage bearing a statement of fares in accordance with this byelaw shall
not willfully or negligently cause or suffer the letters of figures in the statement to be concealed or rendered
illegible at any time while the carriage is plying or being used for hire.
Provisions securing the safe custody and re-delivery of any property accidentally left in hackney
carriages and fixing the charges to be made in respect thereof
17. The proprietor or driver of a hackney carriage shall, immediately after the determination of any hiring or as
soon as practicable thereafter, careful search the carriage for any property which may have been accidentally left
therein.
18. The proprietor or driver of a hackney carriage shall, if any property accidentally left therein by any person
who may have been conveyed in the carriage be found by or handed to him
i. carry it as soon as possible and in any event within 48 hours, if not sooner claimed by or on behalf of its owner,
to the office of the Council and leave it in the custody of the officer in charge of the office on his giving a receipt
for it.
ii. be entitled to receive from any person to whom the property shall be re-delivered an amount equal to five
pence in the pound for its estimated value (or the fare for the distance from the place of finding to the office of the
Council whichever be the greater) but not more than five pounds.
Penalties
19. Every person who shall offend against any of these byelaws shall be liable on summary conviction to a fine
not exceeding one hundred pounds and in the case of a continuing offence to a further fine not exceeding five
pounds for each day during which the offence continues after conviction.
Repeal of Byelaws
20. The byelaws relating to hackney carriages in the Breckland District which were made by the Mayor,
Aldermen and Burgesses of the Borough of Thetford acting by the Council on the 19th day of February, 1957
and which were confirmed by one of Her Majesty's Principal Secretaries of State on the 12th day of April, 1957
and subsequently amended by:
i. Amending Byelaws 7, 15 and 16 made by the Council on the 26th day of March, 1968 and confirmed on 13th
June, 1968;
ii. Amending Byelaws 7 and 15 made by the Council on the 10th day of March 1968 and confirmed on the 12th
day of May 1970; and
iii. Amending Byelaw 16 made by the Council on the 17th day of November, 1970 and confirmed on the 27th day
of July, 1971
are hereby repealed.
Provisions Fixing the Stands of Hackney Carriages
21. Each of the several places specified in the following list shall be a stand for such number of hackney
carriages as is specified in the list:Forecourt on Thetford Railway Station 6
Bridge Street Car Park, Thetford (adjacent to the pedestrian bridge across the Rivers Ouse and Thet) 4
Well Street, Thetford (on the west side of 5
the street to the south of the layby)
Pike Lane Car Park (6.00 p.m. - 1.00 a.m. only), 2
Mill Lane Car Park (6.00 p.m. - 1.00 a.m. only), 2
Quebec Street, Dereham 8
Queens Square, Attleborough 1

56

High Street, Watton 1
Opposite Pedlars Car Park, Swaffham 1

57

PRIVATE HIRE VEHICLE CONDITIONS

No vehicle will be authorised as a Private Hire Vehicle unless it conforms with the
requirements as set out within this document unless; where justifiable reasons exist the
committee may decide to approve the vehicle.
The following are conditions attached to the Private Hire vehicle licence. These conditions are
additional to the requirements imposed upon proprietors/drivers and vehicles by the Local
Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976, Equality Act 2010 and the Town Police
Clauses Act 1847. Breach of any of these conditions may lead to suspension or revocation of
the licence and/or prosecution.
The vehicle must meet the criteria set out in the Council’s Vehicle Age and Emissions Policy.
Please see Appendix A.
Every vehicle must be maintained in a safe and clean condition at all times and is subject to
such examinations as are required by the Council.
General Construction, Appearance, Design, Signs, Notices etc
1.

2.

3.
4.

5.
6.
7.

8.

9.

10.

The vehicle shall have at least four doors. All passenger doors must be capable of
being opened from inside the vehicle. The vehicle must have adequate seating
accommodation for not less than four persons in addition to the driver.
No person entering or exiting the vehicle should have to remove or dismantle any seat
or other obstacle, or to climb over any person being carried in the vehicle, or have any
other person leave their seat to facilitate them entering or exiting the vehicle.
The vehicle must not be equipped with any sign or notice such as the word "CAB" or
"TAXI" or be of such design or appearance as to lead any person to believe that the
vehicle is a hackney carriage.
Floor coverings must not be unduly worn and present no trip hazards. Household
carpeting or similar is unacceptable and must not be used. Upholstery (headlining and
side panel coverings) must be free of ingrained grime, fractures and maintained in the
manufacturers original style.
Luggage and storage areas must be kept as free space for passenger’s luggage.
The head lining shall be intact, clean and free from holes, tears, stains or any other
damage.
Door lining/ handles shall be secure, complete and be capable of being operated both
from inside and outside the vehicle. The door linings shall be clean, free from holes,
stains or any other damage.
The boot shall be kept clean and free of large stains and spills. Matting, if fitted must
be in one piece and be capable of being cleaned. The boot must be kept clear for the
use of passenger’s luggage except for the storage of the spare wheel and jack.
The luggage compartment shall have sufficient capacity to accommodate a reasonable
quantity of luggage such as a 20kg suitcase for each of the maximum number of
passengers that can be carried.
The luggage compartment must be divided off by a barrier capable of preventing any
luggage from entering the driving compartment or rear passenger compartment. A
suitable restraint system shall be provided as to minimise any movement of luggage
whilst in transit.

58

11.
12.

13.
14.

15.

16.
17.

18.
19.
20.
21.
22.

23.

All windows must be clear of any obstruction damage or signage which will impede the
view of the driver. All windows must be capable of being operated.
Fascia/switches gauges shall be correctly illuminated. All interior and passenger lights
where fitted shall be secure and operate. All switches and fittings shall be secure and
operate correctly. There shall be no exposed wires, large holes or sharp edges in the
fascia.
The trims where fitted should be secure, with no protruding edges.
Bodywork must be maintained to a good condition, paintwork must be sound and well
maintained and free of corrosion, inferior respray work and ‘cover up’ temporary
repairs.
All rust spots and scratches/dents and repairs with a measurement in excess of 10mm
must be prepared and repainted with matching colour to ensure they are returned to
as near original condition as possible so that no visible evidence of repair or restoration
is detectable.
No panels to have dents, tears, or creases or be of odd colour.
Decals or stickers or any other means must not be used to cover bodywork defects or
damage. The vehicle tester reserves the right to ask that any such material be removed
if he/she has reason to believe that any attempt has been made to cover up vehicle
damage, so the vehicle bodywork can be properly inspected.
The vehicle must be right hand drive (exemption is applicable to limousines or
speciality vehicles).
The seating capacity will be determined by the Council based upon the manufacturer’s
specification as stated on the vehicle registration document, the orientation of the
seating and the dimensions of the seating.
The vehicle must be of such design to enable any person in the carriage to
communicate with the driver;
The vehicle must be fitted with a roof or covering which can be kept watertight;
The proprietor/driver employed to drive the vehicle must ensure that the licensed
vehicle has a daily safety check. As a minimum this must be a visual check on all lights,
oil, water, tyres, mirrors and seat belts. A written record must be made of each safety
check, details of faults recorded and remedial action taken. The record must be signed
by the person undertaking the safety checks and kept in the vehicle for a minimum of
30 days and then for a further six months by the proprietor. On being so required by a
Police Officer or Authorised Officer or Vehicle Examiner the driver must produce, to
that officer, the recorded daily checks kept in the vehicle and the proprietor, on request
by that officer, must produce those recorded checks in his possession and/or those
kept in the vehicle.
Where application is made for a vehicle wishing to carry less than 4 passengers and
have less than a minimum of 4 doors, this will be determined on its own merits.
Vehicles that have been determined by the Council that can only accommodate 1
passenger but must have a minimum of 2 side opening doors.

Radio, Microphone, PDA, mobile phone etc
24.

Any radio, microphone, PDA, mobile phone etc. installed in the vehicle shall be fitted
in such a position that its use by the driver would not impair his control of the vehicle
when it is in motion.

Use of Taximeter

59

25.

Private Hire vehicles may have a taximeter fitted. If the vehicle is fitted with a taximeter,
that taximeter must be so constructed, attached and maintained as to comply with the
following requirements:
(a) all taximeters must be calendar controlled, approved and sealed
(b) the taximeter shall be so placed that all letters and figures on the face thereof are
at all times plainly visible to any person being conveyed in the vehicle and for that
purpose the letters and figures shall be capable of being suitably illuminated during
any period of hiring;
(c) the taximeter and all the fittings thereof shall be so affixed to the vehicle with seals
or other appliances that it shall not be practicable for any person to tamper with them
except by breaking, damaging or permanently displacing the seals or other appliances.
(d) Private hire vehicles that are fitted with a taximeter must display inside the vehicle
a statement of maximum fares of the operator. This shall be displayed inside the
vehicle in such a position that is clearly visible to passengers. Operators and / or drivers
cannot demand a fare greater than that recorded on the taximeter.

Maintenance of Vehicle
26.

Private hire vehicles fitted with a tail lift for wheelchairs, must provide a valid LOLER
(Lifting Operations Lifting Equipment Regulations) certificate of compliance to prove
that the tail lift has been tested and checked to the required standards and must be
retested every six months as per HSE (Health and Safety Executive) requirements

Seating
27.
28.

29.
30.
31.
32.

33.

All seats within the vehicle, front and rear, must be fitted with working seatbelts.
All seats must be properly cushioned or covered. They must still be fully ‘sprung’, free
of stains, tears and not threadbare. There must be no sharp edges which could cause
injury or damage. Seat coverings must be sound, intact and clean. There shall be no
loose rugs, blankets, cushions or other articles on the passenger seats.
All seating within the vehicle must be forward or rear facing.
Each seat must be fitted with fully operational seat belts, compliant with British
Standards, except where the law specifically provides an exemption from providing
seatbelts.
The proprietor must not allow a greater number of passengers to be carried in the
vehicle than the number specified in the licence.
Where the seating in the licensed vehicle can be rearranged, the proprietor must
ensure that no more seats than are stated on the licence, including wheelchair(s) are
fitted in the vehicle whether occupied or not. Once the vehicle has been tested and
approved, the seating layout must not be altered without further approval except for
the temporary accommodation of a wheelchair in vehicles approved for such purpose.
Seats can be mounted on tracking fastened to the floor of the vehicle using Unwin
Safety Systems seat fixings or similar approved make to the satisfaction of the Council.
These seats can then be removed or reinstalled as necessary to allow space for one
or more wheelchairs. Any tracking system utilised must be correctly aligned and
spaced to allow easy removal of the seat. Fastenings for the tracking must in
accordance with the manufacturer’s specification and approved for use.

Seating Dimensions
Seats (Width)

60

34.
35.

The seat width size requirement is a minimum of 406mm (40.6cm) per person. All
measurements are taken across the front of the seat cushion.
The width for 3 persons of a minimum of 1219mm (121.9cm) shall be measured by
taking the actual distance along the front of the seat cushions or between the arm rests.

Height (Inside)
36.
There must be sufficient space between the lowest part of the seat cushions and the
lowest part of the roof to safely accommodate the driver and passengers in reasonable
comfort. This must be at least 840mm (84cm).
Knee Space Front and Rear passengers
37.
From the squab of the front seat in its rear most position to the nearest obstruction in
front must be at least 910 mm (91cm).
38.
From the squab of the back seat to the back of the front seat in its rear most position
the measurement must be at least 650 mm (65cm).
39.
All front passengers must be able to sit squarely and without causing physical
contact with the dashboard or with the driver whilst driving and using the controls.
Doors and Windows
40.

All vehicles must comply with the Road Vehicle (Construction and Use) Regulations
1986, which requires the following:Motor vehicles first used before 1 April 1985: The windscreen and front side windows
must allow at least 70% of light to be transmitted through them.
Motor vehicles first used on or after 1 April 1985: The light transmitted through the
windscreen must be at least 75%.
The front side windows must allow at least 70% of light to be transmitted through them.

41.
42.
43.
44.
45.
46.
47.
48.

There shall be no restrictions regarding levels of tint of the rear passenger windows
and rear windscreen of vehicle, however windows must be of manufactures
specification and must not be changed or have extra tinting applied. Tinted films
applied to the vehicle windows are not permitted.
The vehicle must have windows on all sides of the vehicle and also along the whole of
the rear of the vehicle.
A device for demisting the rear window must be fitted and in working order.
The vehicle must have a minimum of 4 side opening doors.
Multi-Purpose Vehicles (MPV) must have a minimum of 3 doors, the rear door not
being accepted as one of the 3 doors. 2 of the doors must be on the nearside of the
vehicle.
All doors on MPVs must be easily accessible to passengers entering or exiting the
vehicle. A passenger should not be required to have to climb over any seat or obstacle
in order to enter or exit the vehicle.
All vehicles must have doors that open sufficiently wide to allow easy entering and
exiting of the vehicle by passengers. Seating Access from the doors to the seats
must be direct, without having to manoeuvre other seats or obstructions.
All vehicles must have doors that open sufficiently wide to allow easy entering and
exiting of the vehicle by passengers.
All doors must be fitted with reflectors/reflective strips or lights, which are clearly visible
from the rear of the vehicle when the door is open.

61

49.
50.
51.

All doors must be capable of being readily opened from the inside and outside of the
vehicle by one operation of the latch mechanism or door handle. Such mechanism or
handle must be clearly visible and easily accessible to passengers.
Any back doors which may be used for entering or exiting the vehicle must display a
notice on the inside of the vehicle advising passengers how to open the doors.
The doors and windows must be maintained in good working order at all times, and
must be capable of being opened or closed by passengers from within the vehicle
unless the window was designed by the manufacturer not to open.

Wheels and Tyres
52.

53.
54.
55.

The vehicle must have at least 4 road wheels. A full size spare tyre must be carried in
the vehicle or Space-saver spare tyres, where fitted as standard equipment to the
vehicle, will be accepted. Provision must be made for the defective standard road
wheel to be secured in the vehicle should a space saver tyre be used in an emergency
or the vehicle must meet the approved manufacturer’s method of dealing with
punctured tyres. A wheel brace and jack to enable the effective change of a tyre and
wheel must be carried.
All tyres, including the spare tyre, must comply with the vehicle manufacturers’
specification.
All tyres, including the spare where one is provided, must be kept to “MOT standard”
at all times.
Re-cut tyres are not permitted

Safety Equipment.
56.

All licensed vehicles must have a suitable and efficient fire extinguisher and first aid kit
containing appropriate first aid dressings and appliances. Such equipment must be in
date and carried in such a position in the vehicle as to be readily available and visible
for immediate use in an emergency.

57.

The fire extinguisher must be a 1kg or 2kg Multi-Purpose dry power fire extinguisher
to BS EN3 standard. It should be readily accessible without delay and the responsibility
of the driver to ensure that they are able to use the fire extinguisher in their vehicle.

58.

The vehicle must have emergency equipment within the vehicle which is available to
the driver that is maintained and working. This must include as a minimum
requirement:
 a torch
 a warning triangle that meets European Standards
 Florescent and reflective tabards which are for use at night and in poor visibility
which meets European Standards, one must be available for the driver and one
for each passenger the vehicle is permitted to carry.

59.

The vehicle and all its fittings and equipment must, at all times when the vehicle is in
use or available for hire, be kept in an efficient, safe, tidy and clean condition and all
relevant statutory requirements must be fully complied with.

Fuel Systems
60.

Any engine powered by liquid petroleum gas (LPG), compressed natural gas (CNG),
liquid natural gas (LNG), petrol or any combination of these fuels must be fitted with
an automatic inertia fuel cut off device.

62

61.

An applicant applying for a licence involving a vehicle which has been converted will
be required to produce prior to a licence being granted a certificated issued by the
relevant association confirming that the conversion is safe.

Licence Plates
62.

63.

64.
65.
66.
67.

A private hire vehicle shall have fitted in a visible and securely fixed position to the rear
exterior of the vehicle, a licence plate issued by the council. An additional smaller
licence plate shall also be securely fitted to the front windscreen so that the information
can be viewed both internally and externally.
Any external licence plate issued by the council will include the following information:
Licence Number
Registration Number
Licence Expiry Date
Number of passengers
The vehicle to display on the rear passenger doors in a prominent position, Private
Hire door stickers, as issued by the Council. These stickers must be permanently
affixed to the vehicle. Magnetic door signs are not permitted.
Vehicles are permitted to advertise the name and telephone number of the Operator
employing the vehicle, as long as words “Taxi” or “Cab” are not featured.
A plate provided by the Council identifying the vehicle as a Private Hire vehicle must
be securely fixed to the outside the vehicle at the rear in such a manner that the plate
is not obscured from view by any fixtures or fittings.
The plate shall be capable of being removed by a constable or authorised Officer of
the Council should the Licence be suspended or revoked. Drivers are reminded that it
is an offence to drive a licensed Private Hire vehicle whilst not being in possession of
a current hackney carriage and private hire driver’s licence.

Roof Signs
68.

The council will not permit a private hire vehicle to be fitted with a roof mounted sign
of any kind.

Licence Period
69.

Private Hire vehicle Licences shall be granted for a period of 12 months or such other
period as the Council may determine from time to time. Expired plates must be
returned to the council or retained by the appointed testing station upon renewal.

Dual Plating
70.

The council does not allow dual plating of licensed vehicles.

Change of Address or Ownership of vehicle
71.

The proprietor shall notify the Council in writing of any change of address during the
period of the licence within seven days of such change taking place. The proprietor
must also complete and submit the required application with fee, as soon as practically
possible, and in any case within 14 days, if they transfer ownership of the vehicle.

Vehicle Documentation

63

69.

The proprietor of a Private Hire vehicle licensed by the Council shall at the request of
an authorised Officer or any Police Constable produce for inspection the following
documentation within 7 days from the time the request is made at a place notified to
the driver by the authorised Officer or Police Constable:
(a) a certificate of the policy of Insurance or security required by Part IV of the Road
Traffic Act 1988 or other enactment in respect of such Private Hire vehicle;
(b) the Private Hire vehicle Licence issued by the Council;
(c) a current Ministry of Transport Test Certificate (where applicable)
(d) the vehicle registration documents; and
(e) the driving licence issued by DVLA or acceptable equivalent defined by DVLA

Alteration of Vehicle
70.
71.
72.
73.

No material alteration or change in the specification, design, condition or appearance
of the vehicle shall be made without the approval of the Council at any time while the
licence is in force.
The licensing authority must be notified prior to installing CCTV in a vehicle.
The colour of the vehicle must not be altered during the period that the vehicle is
licensed.
No material alteration or change in the specification, design, condition or appearance
of the vehicle shall be made once a vehicle has been inspected and a licence granted,
at any time while the licence is in force and at all times the vehicle shall comply with
the specifications of the Council for a licensed private hire vehicle. (Vehicles which
have been modified in any way from the manufacturer’s standard of construction may
not be considered suitable for licensing purposes depending upon the nature of the
modification).

64

HACKNEY CARRIAGE & PRIVATE HIRE DRIVER'S LICENCE CONDITIONS
The following are conditions attached to a hackney carriage and private hire driver's licence.
These conditions are additional to the requirements imposed on hackney carriage and private
hire drivers and vehicles by the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976,
Equality Act 2010 and the Town Police Clauses Act 1847. Breach of any of these conditions
may lead to suspension or revocation of the licence and/or prosecution.
Driver's Identification Badge
The Driver must at all times when acting as a driver of a hackney carriage or private hire
vehicle wear his/her identity badge, as provided by the Council, in such manner as to be plainly
and distinctly visible. The badge must be handed over for inspection, if requested, to any
authorised officer or Police Officer for the purposes of the Local Government (Miscellaneous
Provisions) Act 1976.
The driver of a hackney carriage or private hire vehicle shall, when required to do so by an
authorised officer of the Council or any Police Officer, return the driver's badge and licence to
the Council and obtain a receipt for it.
The driver shall upon the expiry (without immediate renewal), revocation or suspension of this
licence forthwith return the driver's badge to the Council. Badges must be renewed before the
expiry date of the existing badge.
Dress Code
The Licensing Authority is committed to encouraging the professional image of the trade and
it considers that drivers should conform to a minimum standard of dress, as set out below, in
order to:




Raise and maintain the profile of the licensed trade
Promote confidence amongst members of public to ensure passengers feel
comfortable when using licensed vehicles
Promote public safety by ensuring the safe operation of licensed vehicles at all times
and that licensing drivers are readily identifiable

Acceptable Standards of Dress:



The driver shall be clean and tidy in appearance
Shirts, blouses, T-shirts, or sweat tops should cover the shoulders and be of sufficient
length to enable them to be tucked into trousers or shorts



Shirts or blouses can be worn with a tie or open-necked



Trousers may be either full length or shorts if tailored



Smart jeans type trousers are permitted



Footwear should fit around the heel of feet

Unacceptable standards of dress within this Code:



Bare chests
Unsuitable/Unclean or damaged clothing or footwear

65



Clothing with offensive words, logos or graphics

Conduct of Driver
The driver shall:
 at all times be clean and respectable in his dress and person and behave in a civil and
orderly manner;
 take all reasonable steps to ensure the safety of passengers conveyed in, entering or
alighting from the vehicle driven by him;
 not drink or eat in the vehicle;
 not without the express consent of the hirer play any radio or sound reproducing
instrument or equipment in the vehicle other than for the purpose of sending or
receiving messages in connection with the operation of the vehicle;
 at no time cause or permit the noise emitted by any radio or other previously mentioned
equipment in the vehicle which he is driving to be a source of nuisance or annoyance
to any person, whether inside or outside the vehicle (Drivers are reminded that it is an
offence to sound a horn whilst stationary except in traffic and not at all between
11.30pm and 7.00am in areas where there is a 30mph speed limit in force);
 NOT consume ANY alcohol whilst on duty and ensure that he/she complies with
statutory legislation in relation to drink driving offences; and
 not use any mobile phone (including a hands free mobile phone) whilst driving.
Smoking
It is against the law for a driver or passenger to smoke in a licensed vehicle. All hackney
carriage vehicles are required to be smoke free at all times and ‘No smoking’ signage must
be displayed in the vehicle in accordance with the legislation. Failure to comply with this may
lead to a fixed penalty notice being issued or a criminal prosecution. The use of electronic
cigarettes (e-cigs), vapours and electronic nicotine delivery systems (ENDS) is prohibited in
hackney carriage and private hire vehicles.
Passengers



The driver shall not convey or permit to be conveyed in a hackney carriage or private
hire vehicle a greater number of persons than that prescribed in the licence for the
vehicle.
The driver shall not allow any child below the age of ten years to be conveyed in the
front of a private hire vehicle:

Written Receipts
The driver shall if requested by the hirer of a licensed vehicle provide the hirer with a written
receipt for the fare paid.
Use of Taximeter
The driver of a vehicle provided with a taximeter shall ensure that the taximeter is sealed and
approved by a contracted garage. All meters must be calendar controlled.


As soon as the vehicle is hired by distance, and before beginning the journey, bring
the machinery of the taximeter into action by moving the said key, flag or other device,
so that the word "HIRED" is legible on the face of the taximeter and keep the machinery
of the taximeter in action until the termination of the hiring;

66




Cause the dial of the taximeter to be kept properly illuminated throughout any part of
a hiring which is during the hours of darkness as defined for the purpose of the Road
Transport Lighting Act 1957 and also at any other time at the request of the hirer;
If a private hire vehicle being driven by the driver is fitted with a taximeter, the driver
shall not cause the fare recorded thereon to be cancelled or concealed until the hirer
has had a reasonable opportunity of examining it and has paid the fare (unless credit
is to be given).

Fare to be Demanded




The driver shall not demand a fare in excess of (any previously agreed for that hiring
between the hirer and the operator or, if the vehicle is fitted with a taximeter and there
has been no previous agreement as to the fare) the fare shown on the face of the
taximeter.
The driver of a private hire vehicle shall not demand from any hirer a fare in excess of
any previously agreed for that hiring between the hirer and the operator or if the vehicle
is fitted with a taximeter and there has been no previous agreement as to the fare
shown on the face of the taximeter.

Interference with Equipment
The driver of a licensed vehicle shall not tamper with or permit any person to tamper with, any
taximeter with which the vehicle is provided, with the fittings thereof, or with the seals affixed
thereto, nor with any other equipment attached to or forming part of the vehicle.
Shortest Route
The driver of a licensed vehicle shall not without reasonable cause unnecessarily prolong in
distance or in time, the journey for which the private hire vehicle has been hired.
Assistance with Luggage
The driver of a licensed vehicle so constructed as to carry luggage shall:




convey a reasonable quantity of luggage;
afford reasonable assistance in loading and unloading;
afford reasonable assistance in removing it to or from the entrance of any building,
station or place at which he may take up or set down such a person.

Lost Property
The driver of a licensed vehicle shall, immediately after the termination of any hiring or as soon
as practicable thereafter carefully search the vehicle for any property which may have been
accidentally left therein. Any property found shall be returned to the hirer or handed in to the
nearest Police Station within 24 hours.
Carriage of Other Persons
The driver of a licensed vehicle shall not permit any other person to be conveyed in the
vehicle without the express consent of the first hirer.
Prompt Attendance

67

The driver of a licensed vehicle shall, if he is aware that the vehicle has been hired, be in
attendance at an appointed time and place or he has otherwise been instructed by the
operator or proprietor of the vehicle to be in attendance at an appointed time and place,
punctually attend at that time and place, unless delayed or prevented by reasonable cause.
Change of Address
The driver shall notify the Council in writing of any change of his address during the period of
the licence within seven days of such change taking place.
Animals
The driver shall not convey in a private hire vehicle any animal belonging to or in the custody
of himself, the proprietor or operator of the vehicle. Any animal belonging to or in the custody
of any passenger may be conveyed at the driver's discretion.
The carrying of hearing dog, guide dog or other assistance dog shall not be at the driver's
discretion and such a dog accompanying a blind or deaf person must be carried at no
additional cost.
Health of Driver
The driver of a private hire vehicle must inform the Council without delay about the onset or
worsening of any health condition likely to cause them to be a source of danger to the public
when driving either now or in the future. Examples are giddiness, fainting, blackouts, epilepsy,
strokes, multiple sclerosis, parkinson's disease, heart disease, angina, 'coronaries', high blood
pressure, arthritis, disorder of vision, mental illness, alcoholism, drug taking and loss of a limb
or use of a limb. THIS LIST DOES NOT INCLUDE ALL THE DISABILITIES THAT MUST BE
REPORTED. THESE EXAMPLES ARE GIVEN ONLY TO INDICATE THE TYPES OF
DISABILITIES.
Temporary conditions, other than recurrent ones, not expected to last more than three months
need not be reported. Drivers who are in doubt about whether or not their health condition is
one which should be reported should consult their doctor.
A Group 2 medical certificate completed by a registered general practitioner who is licensed
to practice in the UK must be submitted with all new applications and every three years upon
renewal and then annually thereafter when the applicant reaches 65 years old.
Code of Conduct
The council requires all drivers to adhere to a Code of Conduct and, failure to do so, will be
taken into consideration in disciplinary matters.
Documentation
At the request of an authorised officer of the Council or a Police Officer the driver must within
7 days produce for inspection the following documents:





the vehicle licence;
the vehicle registration documents;
a Certificate of the policy of motor insurance as required by Part IV of the Road Traffic
Act 1988 or any other enabling Act;
where appropriate a Ministry of Transport Test Certificate; or Inspection Certificate and

68



his own driving licence issued by DVLA or equivalent as defined by DVLA.

Convictions/Cautions
The proprietor/driver shall within seven days disclose to the Council in writing details of any
convictions, cautions or arrests, DVLA penalty points etc. imposed on him (or if the proprietor
is a company or partnership, on any of the directors or partners) during the period of the
licence.
Licensed drivers must also report to the council within 7 days any changes to their immigration
status, or any convictions of an immigration offence, or any requirement to pay an immigration
penalty. A licence ceases to have effect if the person does not have the right to work in the
UK. Any licence which has expired due to the person's immigration status must be returned
to the council within 7 days.
Accident to Vehicle
If a driver of a Hackney Carriage is involved in an accident or incident the driver MUST report
this to the Council as soon as reasonably practicable, but in any case within 72 hours of the
accident or incident. Compliance with this condition does not exempt the driver from his
statutory liability to report all accidents to the police.
Private Hire - Acceptance of Hirings
The driver shall not whilst driving or in charge of a private hire vehicle ply for hire or
otherwise:
 tout or solicit on a road or other public place any person to hire or be carried in any
private hire vehicle;
 cause or procure any other person to tout or solicit on any road or other PUBLIC
place any person to hire or be carried for hire in any private hire vehicle; or
 offer the vehicle for immediate hire whilst the driver is on a road or PUBLIC PLACE
or PRIVATE PROPERTY.
Before commencement of a journey the driver shall confirm the passenger's name and
destination. The driver shall confirm the fare before the commencement of the journey
unless a sealed meter is used in accordance with the current Table of Fares.
Hackney Carriage – Bylaws
The driver of a hackney carriage shall comply at all times with the hackney carriage Bylaws.
Please refer to Appendix C.

69

OPERATOR CONDITIONS
Introduction
Private Hire Operators are licensed to provide pre-booked journeys for passengers at an
agreed fare. Legislation states that the journey must be pre-booked with the operator prior to
commencing, where a fare is undertaken without being pre-booked it is against the law and
the driver's insurance will almost certainly be invalid.
The council has a responsibility to regulate Private Hire Operators in accordance with
legislation, when receiving an application as well as considering any legislative requirements
local authorities also have the ability to take into consideration local factors or issues that may
be relevant when granting a licence.
When considering a new application for an operator’s licence we will consider the location of
the premises, parking arrangements for vehicles and what the effect of granting the licence is
likely to have on anyone in the vicinity, this includes residents, the public and other businesses.
Some locations such as the city centre and other densely populated areas do not easily
accommodate businesses such as the private hire trade due to the space required for vehicles
etc. Due to this we would not grant a licence unless the applicant can demonstrate such
measures to ensure that there will not be a detrimental effect on anyone in the vicinity, this will
also include any parking infringements by drivers visiting the office that are encouraged due
to the location.
In granting a licence the council will attach conditions to the licence, and as part of the council’s
role within regulation it will ensure compliance by the operator to these conditions. Some
conditions are prescribed by legislation and are mandatory; others are adopted locally where
deemed appropriate or necessary.
It should be remembered that where conditions are set by legislation then these cannot be
amended or removed and therefore will continue to be attached to all operator licences.
These conditions are in addition to the requirements imposed upon operators by the Local
Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 and the Town Police Clauses Act 1847.
Breach of any of these conditions may lead to enforcement action which could lead to
suspension or revocation of the licence and/or prosecution.
Planning Requirements
(a) There shall (where planning legislation and practice requires it) be in force for the premises
from which the business is to be conducted a valid planning consent. Operators must comply
fully with any condition attached to such consent.
(b) Where planning consent is not required written confirmation from the council’s planning
department will be required.
(c) In the case of an operator with only one vehicle operating from a residential address and
the council's planning department has confirmed that planning permission is not required the
following conditions must be adhered to:
(i) only one vehicle can operate from the premises
(ii) customers must not visit the premises
(iii) customers must be picked up away from the premises
(iv) any advertising from the premises must have prior approval from the council’s planning
department.
Records

70

Records of vehicles and drivers
(a) The operator shall be responsible for maintaining at his premises (AND AT EACH SUCH
PREMISES IF OPERATING FROM TWO OR MORE PREMISES) particulars of all vehicles
operated by him, which shall include the following:(i) the call sign or other identifying mark used on booking records;
(ii) the licence plate number;
(iii) the vehicle registration number;
(iv) the name and address of vehicle proprietor;
(v) a valid current certificate of motor insurance for the vehicle together with, where
appropriate, a Ministry of Transport certificate and or certificate of compliance, and ensure
both the driver and vehicle hold a current licence issued by the same authority;
(vi) the names and addresses of drivers and the badge numbers of drivers.
(b) The above records to be produced on request to an authorised officer of the Council or to
a Police Officer.
(c) Operators must provide due diligence in the form of written records to demonstrate that
staff and drivers are fully trained and aware of their responsibilities. Operators may
demonstrate this with training records to include safeguarding and disability awareness, other
checks performed by the operator, company policies etc. The due diligence records must be
made available to an authorised officer upon request.
(d) Operators who provide wheelchair accessible vehicles (WAV) must ensure that the driver
is appropriately trained and has carried out a wheelchair assessment approved by the council.
This assessment must be documented and refreshed at renewal of the drivers licence. These
training records must be available for inspection by an authorised officer.
Records of bookings
(a) Before the commencement of each journey of every private hire booking the operator shall
enter in a suitably bound book or onto an appropriate computer software package with a
backup system, TO BE HELD AT THE PREMISES FROM WHICH THE BOOKING IS MADE,
the following details:(i) the time and date of each booking;
(ii) by what method the booking was received, i.e. telephone or personal call;
(iii) journey from/ to ;
(iiii)The time of pickup
(v) the name of the hirer; and
(vi) cost of fare quoted for journey.
If the above data is to be retained electronically, the operator must make appropriate provision
to ensure it is backed up to maintain data integrity and retention period.
(Note: If a licence plate number or call sign is used, a record showing the vehicle registration
number and the plate number or call sign allocated shall be displayed and kept on the licensed
premises).
(b) If an operator subcontracts a booking to another licensed operator, both operators must
keep a record of bookings. The initial operator who accepted the booking must provide due
diligence of checks made to ensure the operator they passed the booking onto is correctly
licensed. This due diligence must be documented and made available to an authorised officer.
(c) The records shall be kept for a period of not less than six months from the date of the last
entry, or such longer period as required by an authorised officer of the Council and must be
produced on reasonable request to any such officer or to a Police Officer.
Information as to Charges

71

No operator of a private hire vehicle which is licensed by the Authority under this Act shall
invite or accept a booking for such vehicle, or control or arrange a journey to be undertaken
by such vehicle, without first drawing the attention either orally or in writing to the person
making the booking, information as to the basis of charge for the hire of the vehicle. The
Operator shall ensure that such information is passed to the driver.
The operator may charge whatever fee has been agreed between him/herself and the hirer
before the commencement of the journey. However, the operator shall inform the council of
the basic scale of fares intended to be charged and give the council one calendars months’
notice of any changes proposed.
Statement of Fares
Operator’s who provide private hire vehicles that are fitted with a taximeter must ensure that
the vehicle displays a current statement of maximum fares as set by the council.
Operator’s must make customers fully aware of any additional charges which may be applied,
e.g.
(a) the minimum charge of each hiring (if any);
(b) the fare tariff;
(c) any additional charges (eg. cleaning a soiled vehicle)
These additional charges must be clearly displayed in the operator's office and website where
available.
Term of Licence
A Private Hire Vehicle Operator's Licence is usually granted for a five year duration, but may
be granted for a lesser duration if requested to do so in writing, or the applicant's immigration
status limits it to a shorter duration.
Ofcom licence
Operators who utilise a radio system will be required to provide proof of their current licence
from Ofcom.
Standard of Service
The operator shall provide a prompt, efficient and reliable service to members of the public at
all reasonable times and for this purpose shall in particular:(a) Ensure that when a private hire vehicle has been hired to be in attendance at an appointed
time and place the vehicle shall, unless delayed or prevented by reasonable cause, punctually
attend at that appointed time and place.
(b) Keep clean, adequately heated, ventilated and lit any premises which the operator provides
and to which the public have access, whether for the purpose of booking or waiting.
(c) Ensure that any waiting area provided by the operator has adequate seating facilities and
has valid public liability insurance in place for this area.
(d) Ensure that any telephone facilities and radio equipment provided are maintained in a
sound condition and that any defects are repaired promptly.
(f) Ensure that no additional charges or costs are levied or applied by them or their drivers for
the conveying of assistance dogs.
(g) Where the operator has a wheelchair accessible vehicle within their fleet, ensure that no
additional costs are levied by them or their drivers for conveying disabled passengers.
Disorder

72

The holder of an operator's licence shall not permit any person who is drunk, or is behaving in
a disorderly manner, to remain upon the premises in respect of which the licence is in force.
Change of Address
(a) The operator shall notify the Council in writing of any change of his address (including any
address from which he operates or otherwise conducts his business as an operator) during
the period of the licence within seven days of such change taking place.
(b) Where there is a change of address from which the business is conducted, the operator
must ensure that all necessary requirements including any planning permissions are in place
prior to the business operating from the new location.
Convictions/Cautions
(a) The operator shall within seven days disclose to the Council in writing details of any
conviction/cautions imposed on him or arrests (or if the operator is a company or partnership,
on any of the directors or partners) during the period of the licence.
(b) The operator must notify the council within seven days of any changes to their immigration
status or, if since the grant of their licence there has been a conviction of an immigration
offence or a requirement to pay an immigration penalty.
(c) An operator's licence ceases to be in effect if the person to whom it was granted becomes
disqualified by reason of their immigration status. Where this applies the person must cease
to operate and return their operator's licence to the council within 7 days.
Facilities for Passengers
(a) The operator shall ensure that where any passenger waiting area or room is provided it is
kept physically separate from any driver rest area and operations room.
(b) The operator shall ensure that his/her staff, driver's, vehicle proprietors, passengers or
prospective passengers are not allowed to congregate on a public road, footpath or any other
public place adjacent to his/her licensed premises whilst waiting for the arrival of vehicles.
(c) The operator shall ensure that the internal and exterior of EACH of HIS/HER premises
ARE kept in good repair.
Taximeters
(a) The operator shall ensure that vehicles operated by him which are fitted with a sealed
taximeter, charge a fare or charge calculated from the point in the district at which the hirer
commences his journey and shall not exceed that displayed on the taximeter at the completion
of the journey. The taximeter being brought into operation at the commencement of the
journey.
(b) The operator must ensure that all vehicles operated by his base station fitted with meters
have been approved and sealed.
Acceptance of Bookings
(a) The operator must advise all drivers OF VEHICLES IN RESPECT OF WHICH HE
ACCEPTS A BOOKING THAT, whilst on duty, being in charge of a licensed private hire
vehicle HE shall not ply for hire or otherwise:(i) tout or solicit on a road or other public place any person to hire or be carried in any private
hire vehicle;

73

(ii) cause or procure any other person to tout or solicit on any road or other PUBLIC place any
person to hire or be carried for hire in any private hire vehicle; or
(iii) offer the vehicle for immediate hire whilst the driver is on a road or public place or private
property.
(b) The Operator/Proprietor shall not permit any person not being the holder of a valid licence
issued by the Council to drive a licensed private hire vehicle.
Satellite Offices
Where a satellite office is in operation the following conditions will apply in addition to those
previously mentioned:
(a) Private hire vehicles must not park illegally on the public highway in the vicinity of the
satellite office, breach road traffic legislation or breach parking restrictions or cause
obstruction or annoyance to the public, other road users or other businesses.
(b) Vehicles must not be allowed to congregate in the vicinity of the satellite office unless there
is adequate off street parking to accommodate all vehicles.
(c) Private hire vehicles must only attend the satellite office to undertake pre-booked fares and
should depart immediately on the collection of their passenger
(d) Vehicles should not be dispatched to the satellite office unless the passenger is ready for
collection.
(e) Booking records must be kept in accordance with this document.
(f) Driver’s must not take bookings direct from customers.
Complaints
Where any complaint is made against a private hire driver then the complainant shall be
requested to out that complaint in writing and submit it to the council or the proprietor who
shall in turn within 48 hours of its receipt, respond or notify the council.
If an operator is made aware of a safeguarding or serious complaint relating to the ‘fit and
proper’ status of a driver, they must notify the council immediately and provide details of the
actions taken by the operator.

74

Stretched Limousines and Speciality Vehicles Licence Conditions
The council reserve the right to consult with DVSA (Driver and Vehicle Standards Agency) if
it believes a vehicle does not meet the standards set out in the latest version of their document
for ‘Guidance for Limousine Operators’ and it believes a vehicle does not meet the standards
of roadworthiness as set out in the categorisation of vehicle defects. The council may refuse
any vehicle upon application that does not meet the criteria.
It is the responsibility of each applicant to ensure that no more than 8 (Eight) passengers are
ever transported in the vehicle at any one time. Seating capacity can be defined by the number
of seating positions, which again can be defined by sculpting in the seat and/or seat belts.
When signing the vehicle licence application you are confirming that you will adhere to this.
On application for a limousine vehicle licence the applicant must be able to prove that the
vehicle is of an approved standard to be used on the UK highway. If a vehicle is less than ten
years of age it will require an IVA (Individual Vehicle Approval) certificate, a current MOT test
certificate and a V5 vehicle registration certificate. Any vehicle over ten years of age will
require a current MOT test certificate and a V5 vehicle registration certificate.
If any applicant is unsure how to obtain the relevant registration documentation, they should
contact DVLA and/or DVSA.
For the licensing of speciality vehicles, each vehicle must comply with the Road Vehicle
(Construction and Use) Regulations. It is expected that the type of vehicle relevant to this
category of licensing would be a Rolls Royce, Daimler, Bentley, Jaguar or other high end
models from manufacturers such as BMW or Mercedes Benz however this list is nonexhaustive and approval will be at the council's discretion; Also incorporated into this section
would be vintage or classic cars.
All vehicles when presented for inspection must have all relevant documentation such as the
MOT test certificate and a V5 vehicle registration certificate
All limousine and speciality vehicles should ideally be chauffeur driven vehicles, and will not
be permitted to be used for standard day to day private hire work.
Licensing Requirements
The general conditions imposed for private hire vehicle operators and drivers will be applicable
to the licensing of stretch limousines and speciality vehicles unless amended by the following
provisions.
The general conditions imposed by the Council for private hire vehicles where applicable to
the licensing of stretch limousines and speciality vehicles are included in Section 2, General
Conditions for Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Vehicles.
The type of work undertaken by stretch limousines will differ significantly from that of regular
private hire work in that the vehicle will only be licensed for the carriage of passengers for
special events, examples of which are:
● Prom nights
● Theatre trips
● Hen nights
● Stag nights
● Party trips

75

● Race days
or any other similar events considered by the Council to be special in nature. However,
vehicles used solely for weddings and funerals are exempt from the requirements of private
hire licensing.
Private Hire Operator's Licence
Persons taking bookings for private hire work using stretch limousines or speciality vehicles
will be required to hold a private hire operator’s licence issued by the Council.
All bookings of a limousine or speciality vehicle for use as a private hire vehicle must be made
through a licensed private hire operator. Any vehicle licensed by the Council will only be used
for hire under the terms of a private hire operator’s licence already issued or granted to an
operator within the District or to any new licensed operator.
Private Hire Driver's Licence
Any person driving a stretch limousine or speciality vehicle for private hire will be required to
be licensed as a hackney carriage/private hire driver by the Council.
Stretched Limousine - Definition
A stretch limousine is defined as a motor vehicle that has been lengthened by the insertion of
an additional body section and modified by an authorised coachbuilder that is capable of
carrying up to but not exceeding 8 passengers. There will be no age limit for first registration
and no maximum upper age limit, subject to the vehicle being mechanically and physically
maintained in accordance with the provisions of the Council’s standard conditions relating to
private hire vehicles.
In order for the limousine to be considered for licensing, the applicant must prove that the
“stretch” was carried out by the manufacturer or by a coachbuilder approved by the vehicle
manufacturer. American limousines must have been built by an approved coachbuilder under
the QVM programme, (Qualified Vehicle Modifier) for Ford vehicles or the CMC programme
(Cadillac Master Coachbuilders). The onus is placed upon the applicant to prove that the
vehicle meets the prescribed standards.
Once licensed as a private hire vehicle, the limousine will be subject to any statutory
requirements imposed by Part II of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act
1976.
Stretch limousines will be regarded as luxury vehicles used for special events. The use of such
a vehicle for standard private hire work is not considered to be appropriate.
Vehicle Testing
A stretched limousine vehicle will be subject to a twice yearly mechanical examination at
intervals to be specified by the Council, at an approved vehicle testing station that is suitably
able to inspect the type of vehicle, in order to determine its safety and suitability for the type
of work for which it is to be licensed. This will apply to all stretched limousines regardless of
age, date of import or date of registration. A licence for a stretched limousine will be issued
for a period of 12 months only, renewal subject to a satisfactory retest.

76

Even if a vehicle meets the above criteria the Council may still refuse an application if it
considers that the vehicle is not suitable in type, size and design or it if it considers the vehicle
is not in a suitable mechanical condition or is unsafe or appears uncomfortable.
The Vehicle Registration Document V5 must indicate in the field “Type Approval Number” that
it has undergone one of the following approvals and meets the technical standards of either:
● a European Whole Vehicle Type approval, or
● a British National Type approval, or
● an Individual Vehicle Approval (IVA) (formerly known as the Single vehicle Approval scheme
(SVA).
Where applicable, the Vehicle Identification Number (VIN) plate shall display ‘1L1’ to confirm
conversion completed by an authorised dealer.
Documentation is to be provided proving that the ‘stretch’ was performed by the manufacturer
or by a coachbuilder approved by the vehicle manufacturer e.g. American limousines must
have been built by an approved coachbuilder under the QVM programme for Ford Vehicles or
the CMC programme for Cadillac Vehicles.
A plate on the door pillar shall confirm the total weight of the vehicle.
DVLA V5 or equivalent shall be produced to authenticate registration.
A speciality vehicle will be subject to an annual MOT test at any DVSA authorised MOT
testing centre. This will apply to all speciality vehicles regardless of age, date of import or date
of registration. A licence for a speciality vehicle will be issued for a period of 12 months,
renewal subject to a satisfactory retest.
Limousine and speciality vehicles will receive an exemption to display an external identification
plate, a paper permit will be issued which must be clearly displayed on the nearside of the
front windscreen.
An exemption notice will be issued and must be carried in the vehicle at all times, the notice
must be produced upon request by an authorised officer of the council or any police officer on
request.
The driver will also be exempt from wearing a private hire badge under the exemption notice.
But must have it available for immediate inspection by an authorised officer of the council or
any police officer on request.
Vehicle Requirements
Given the increased weight of the vehicle, tyres of the correct weight and size rating must be
used at all times. The limousine must be fitted with tyres that meet the appropriate specification
for both the size and weight of the vehicle, such as 235/75R-15 108D (BF Load) or 225/70R16 107T Town Car Limo Tyre (Reinforced).
Where applicable, an installation certificate must be produced from a Liquefied Petroleum Gas
Association (LPGA) Approved UK Vehicle Conversion Company, in the case of vehicles
converted to run on LPG.
The vehicle must maintain valid road vehicle excise duty.
Vehicles may either be left or right hand drive.

77

Vehicles must be fitted with at least 4 doors (limousines).
All seats shall be fitted with appropriate seat belts, which must be fitted in accordance with the
current Road Vehicle (Construction & Use) Regulations (limousines). In the case of speciality
vehicles seat belt requirements will depend on the Road Vehicle (Construction and Use)
Regulations relating to the age of the vehicle; where this allows for seatbelt exemption children
must not be carried in the vehicle.
Stretch limousines with heavily tinted glass in the windows behind the driver’s cockpit will be
considered for licensing. Glass in the driver cockpit must satisfy the current legal requirements.
Tinted glass shall conform to the legal requirements as laid down by DVSA.
Passengers
The limousine’s seating capacity must have been reduced where necessary to a maximum of
8 passengers.
The vehicle must not carry more than 8 passengers at any time and for this purpose a babe
in arms will be classed as a passenger no matter what their age.
Passengers must not be carried in the front compartment.
Insurance
The vehicle must have ‘hire and reward insurance’ to carry out private hire work and a full
policy of insurance must be presented before the vehicle is licensed. An insurance cover note
will not be accepted.
Alcohol
Alcohol shall only be served while the vehicle is stationary and afterwards all bottles shall be
placed in a secure receptacle.
No intoxicating liquor shall be provided in the vehicle unless there is in force an appropriate
licence under the licensing Act 2003 permitting the sale or supply of the same.
If there are any passenger’s below the age of 18, then there shall be no alcohol in the vehicle.
Any ’glassware’ in the vehicle must be made of either shatterproof glass or plastic.
Entertainment
The driver shall not play or permit the performance of any media which, because of its age
restricted classification or its content, is unsuitable for the age of the passengers in the vehicle
(based on the age of the youngest passenger).
Entertainment provided in the vehicle shall be under the terms of any relevant legislative
requirements. Activities which are prohibited within the vehicle are:
● Striptease
● Lap Dancing
● Pole Dancing
● Any other activity or performance of a like kind.
● The driver of the vehicle shall not knowingly permit to be played any video, DVD or other
recording image that is unsuitable having regard to the age of passengers being conveyed. In

78

deciding what a suitable regard shall be, the driver must take notice of the classification of the
video, DVD or recorded image awarded by the British Board of Film Classification
Advertisements
No signs, notices or any other markings will be displayed on or in the vehicle without the written
permission of the Council. There is no requirement for the vehicle to display a door sign
denoting the operator’s details.
In any advertisement publicising their limousine service, the operator must state that the
vehicle is only licensed to carry a maximum of 8 passengers and a sign to this effect must be
displayed within the passenger compartment of the vehicle.
General Conditions for Private Hire Vehicles
Listed in this section are the conditions taken from the council’s general conditions for private
hire vehicles which are applicable to the licensing of stretch limousines and speciality vehicles.
Maintenance of Vehicle
a) The vehicle shall be of such a design to enable any person in the carriage to communicate
with the driver;
b) The vehicle will be provided with a proper carpet, mat or other suitable covering on the floor;
c) The vehicle will be kept in a clean, safe condition and well maintained and in every way fit
for public service; and
d) The vehicle will be fitted in such a way to enable luggage to be secured if the vehicle is so
constructed to carry luggage.
Safety Equipment
There shall be provided and maintained in the vehicle at all times when it is in use or available
for hire a suitable and efficient fire extinguisher and a suitable first aid kit containing
appropriate first aid dressings and appliances, such equipment to be carried in such a position
in the vehicle as to be readily visible and available for immediate use in an emergency.
Change of Address
The proprietor shall notify the Council in writing of any change of address during the period of
the licence within seven days of such change taking place.
Vehicle Documentation
The proprietor of a Private Hire vehicle licensed by the Council shall at the request of an
authorised Officer or any Police Constable produce for inspection the following documentation
within 7 days from the time the request is made at a place notified to the driver by the
authorised Officer or Police Constable.
a) a certificate of the policy of Insurance or security required by Part IV of the Road Traffic Act
1988 or other enactment in respect of such Private Hire vehicle;
b) the Private Hire vehicle Licence issued by the City Council;
c) a current Ministry of Transport Test Certificate or CoC (where applicable);
d) the vehicle registration documents; and
e) the driving licence (issued by DVLA)
Alteration of Vehicle

79

No material alteration or change in the specification, design, condition or appearance of the
vehicle shall be made without the approval of the Council at any time while the licence is in
force.
Employees
If the proprietor permits or employs any other person to drive a licensed vehicle as a Private
Hire vehicle, he shall before that person commences to drive the vehicle ensure that the driver
holds a valid private hire driver's licence, is insured as required by the Road Traffic Act and
that the driver fully understands the conditions attached to both this licence and the private
hire driver's licence.
Right of Appeal
Under Section 48 (7) of the 1976 Act, any person aggrieved by the refusal of the council to
grant a private hire vehicle licence, or any conditions specified in such a licence may appeal
to a Magistrates’ Court.
Please note that failure to comply with any of the aforementioned conditions including the
general conditions relating to private hire vehicles may result in the commencement of criminal
proceedings, and/or in the suspension or revocation of an existing licence, or in the refusal to
issue a new licence.

80

Guidance on determining the
suitability of applicants and
licensees in the hackney and
private hire trades

81

Contents
Foreword ...............................................................................................................................................
Chapter 1: Introduction ..........................................................................................................................
Chapter 2: Guidance on Determination .................................................................................................
Drivers ....................................................................................................................................................
Crimes resulting in death .......................................................................................................................
Exploitation ............................................................................................................................................
Offences involving violence ..................................................................................................................
Possession of a weapon ........................................................................................................................
Sex and indecency offences ................................................................................................................
Dishonesty .............................................................................................................................................
Drugs .....................................................................................................................................................
Discrimination ......................................................................................................................................
Motoring convictions ..............................................................................................................................
Drink driving/driving under the influence of drugs/using a hand‐held telephone or hand held device
whilst driving ..........................................................................................................................................
Other motoring offences ........................................................................................................................
Hackney carriage and private hire offences ...........................................................................................
Vehicle use offences ..............................................................................................................................
Private Hire Operators ..........................................................................................................................
Vehicle proprietors .................................................................................................................................
Acknowledgements ..............................................................................................................................

82

Foreword
From the IOL Guidance on determining the suitability of applicants and licensees
in the hackney and private hire trades (April 2018)
The function of licensing is the protection of the public. A member of the public stepping into
a motor vehicle driven by a stranger must be able to trust the driver. Are they honest? Are
they competent? Are they safe? Are they trustworthy? When we transact with others, we
usually have time and opportunity to make such assessments. When we transact with taxi
drivers, we don’t. Therefore, we must, and do, rely on the licence as the warranty of the driver’s
safety and suitability for the task at hand.
It follows that a licensing authority has an onerous responsibility. In making decisions
regarding grant and renewal of licences it is, in effect, holding out the licensee as someone
who can be trusted to convey the passenger from A to B in safety. That passenger may be
you, or your elderly mother, or your teenage daughter, or a person who has had too much to
drink, or who is vulnerable for a whole host of other reasons.
Everybody working in this field should acquaint themselves with the facts of the Rotherham
case, which stands as a stark testament to what can happen when licensing performs its
safeguarding role inadequately. But the extremity of that appalling story should not distract us
from the job of protecting the public from more mundane incompetence, carelessness or
dishonesty. The standards of safety and suitability do not have to be set as a base minimum.
To the contrary, they may be set high, to give the public the assurance it requires when using
a taxi service. It is good to know that one’s driver is not a felon. It is better to know that he or
she is a dedicated professional.
Crucially, this is not a field in which the licensing authority has to strike a fair balance between
the driver’s right to work and the public’s right to protection. The public are entitled to be
protected, full stop. That means that the licensing authority is entitled and bound to treat the
safety of the public as the paramount consideration. It is, after all, the point of the exercise.
Philip Kolvin QC Cornerstone Barristers
April 2018
This policy emphasises that any circumstance relating to the applicant or licensee is
potentially relevant, provided of course that it is relevant to their safety and suitability to hold
a licence. It provides useful and authoritative guidelines to applicants and licensees as to
how the Council will approach the important task of making determinations about the safety
and suitability of those that seek to obtain a licence to work in the Hackney Carriage and
Private Hire Trade.

83

Chapter 1: Introduction
1.1

1.2

1.3
1.4
1.5

1.6

1.7
1.8
1.9

The overriding aim of any Licensing Authority when carrying out its functions relating
to the licensing of Hackney or Private Hire Drivers, Vehicle Proprietors and Operators,
must be the protection of the public and others who use (or can be affected by)
Hackney Carriage and Private Hire services.
The relevant legislation provides that any person must satisfy the authority that they
are a fit and proper person to hold a licence and that is a test to be applied after any
applicant has gained any reasonably required qualifications 1. It is the final part of the
process of an application when the decision is made, whether by a committee,
sub‐committee or an officer under a Scheme of Delegation. It involves a detailed
examination of their entire character in order to make a judgment as to their fitness and
propriety.
If a licence holder falls short of the fit and proper standard at any time, the licence
should be revoked or not renewed on application to do so.
There is currently no recent Statutory or Ministerial guidance as to how such decisions
should be approached or what matters are relevant or material to a decision so it is a
matter for the Council to decide.
This document is intended to provide guidance on how we will determine suitability,
taking into account the character of the applicant or licensee. In particular it considers
how regard should be had to the antecedent history of the applicant or licence holder
and its relevance to their ‘fitness and propriety’ or ‘character’. As with any guidance it
need not be slavishly followed but it provides a starting or reference point from which
decisions can be made taking into account the particular merits of each case.
A licensing authority policy can take a 'bright line approach' and say “never”, but it
remains a policy, and as such does not amount to any fetter on the discretion of the
authority. Each case will always be considered on its merits having regard to the policy,
and the licensing authority can depart from the policy where it considers it appropriate
to do so. This will normally happen where the licensing authority considers that there
are exceptional circumstances which warrant a different decision. This approach was
endorsed by the High Court in R (on the application of Nicholds) v Security Industry
Authority 2.
The otherwise good character and driving record of the subject of the decision will not
be considered as exceptional circumstances.
Simply remaining free from conviction may not generally be regarded as adequate
evidence that a person is a fit and proper person to hold a licence.
This Policy contains no detailed list of offences. All offences are allocated to a general
category such as ‘dishonesty’ or ‘drugs’. This prevents it being argued that a specific
offence is not covered by the Policy as it ‘is not on the list’ and also prevents arguments
that a firearm is more serious than a knife and should lead to differentiation. In each
case, appropriate weight should be given to the evidence provided.

6 | Page

1 Except vehicle proprietors. In those cases there is no “fit and proper” requirement, but the authority has an absolute discretion
over granting a licence
2 [2007] 1 WLR 2067

84

Chapter 2: Guidance on Determination
2.1

2.2

2.3

2.4

2.5

2.6
2.7

Most applicants or licensees will have no convictions and that is clearly the ideal
situation. In relation to other people, it is accepted that human beings do make
mistakes and lapse in their conduct for a variety of reasons, and it is further accepted
that many learn from experience and do not go on to commit further offences.
Accordingly, in many cases an isolated conviction, especially if committed some time
ago, may not prevent the grant or renewal of a licence.
It is important to recognise that once a licence has been granted, there is a continuing
requirement on the part of the licensee to maintain their safety and suitability. The
licensing authority has powers to take action against the holder of all types of licence
(driver’s, vehicle and operator’s) and it must be understood that any convictions or
other actions on the part of the licensee which would have prevented them being
granted a licence on initial application will lead to that licence being revoked.
Any dishonesty by any applicant or other person on the applicant’s behalf which is
discovered to have occurred in any part of any application process (e.g. failure to
declare convictions, false names or addresses, falsified references) will result in a
licence being refused, or if already granted, revoked and may result in prosecution.
As the direct impact on the public varies depending upon the type of licence applied
for or held, it is necessary to consider the impact of particular offences on those
licences separately. However, there are some overriding considerations which will
apply in all circumstances.
Generally, where a person has more than one conviction, this will raise serious
questions about their safety and suitability. The licensing authority is looking for safe
and suitable individuals, and once a pattern or trend of repeated offending is apparent,
a licence will not be granted or renewed.
Where an applicant/licensee is convicted of an offence which is not detailed in this
guidance, the licensing authority will take that conviction into account and use this
policy as an indication of the approach that should be taken.
These guidelines do not replace the duty of the licensing authority to refuse to grant a
licence where they are not satisfied that the applicant or licensee is a fit and proper
person. Where a situation is not covered by these guidelines, the authority will consider
the matter from first principles and determine the fitness and propriety of the individual.

Drivers
2.8
2.9

2.10
2.11

As the criteria for determining whether an individual should be granted or retain a
hackney carriage driver’s licence or a private hire driver’s licence (or a combined
licence driver’s licence) are identical, they are considered together.
A driver has direct responsibility for the safety of their passengers, direct responsibility
for the safety of other road users and significant control over passengers who are in
the vehicle. As those passengers may be alone, and may also be vulnerable, any
previous convictions or unacceptable behaviour will weigh heavily against a licence
being granted or retained.
As stated above, where an applicant has more than one conviction showing a pattern
or tendency irrespective of time since the convictions, serious consideration will need
to be given as to whether they are a safe and suitable person.
In relation to single convictions, the following time periods should elapse after
completion of the sentence (or the date of conviction if a fine was imposed) before a
licence will be granted.

Crimes resulting in death
2.12

Where an applicant has been convicted of a crime which resulted in the death of
another person or was intended to cause the death or serious injury of another
person they will not be licensed.

85

Exploitation
2.13

Where an applicant has been convicted of a crime involving, related to, or has any
connection with abuse, exploitation, use or treatment of another individual irrespective
of whether the victim or victims were adults or children, they will not be licensed. This
includes slavery, child sexual exploitation, grooming, psychological, emotional or
financial abuse, but this is not an exhaustive list.

Offences involving violence
2.14

Where an applicant has a conviction for an offence of violence, or connected with any
offence of violence, a licence will not be granted until at least 10 years have elapsed
since the completion of any sentence imposed.

Possession of a weapon
2.15 Where an applicant has a conviction for possession of a weapon or any other weapon
related offence, a licence will not be granted until at least 7 years have elapsed since
the completion of any sentence imposed.

Sex and indecency offences
2.16

Where an applicant has a conviction for any offence involving or connected with illegal
sexual activity or any form of indecency, a licence will not be granted.

2.17

In addition to the above, the licensing authority will not grant a licence to any
applicant who is currently on the Sex Offenders Register or on any ‘barred’ list.

Dishonesty
2.18

Where an applicant has a conviction for any offence of dishonesty, or any offence
where dishonesty is an element of the offence, a licence will not be granted until at
least 7 years have elapsed since the completion of any sentence imposed.

Drugs
2.19

2.20

Where an applicant has any conviction for, or related to, the supply of drugs, or
possession with intent to supply or connected with possession with intent to supply, a
licence will not be granted until at least 10 years have elapsed since the completion
of any sentence imposed.
Where an applicant has a conviction for possession of drugs, or related to the
possession of drugs, a licence will not be granted until at least 5 years have elapsed
since the completion of any sentence imposed. In these circumstances, any applicant
will also have to undergo drugs testing at their own expense to demonstrate that they
are not using controlled drugs.

Discrimination
2.21

Where an applicant has a conviction involving or connected with discrimination in any
form, a licence will not be granted until at least 7 years have elapsed since the
completion of any sentence imposed or from conviction (whichever is longer).

Motoring convictions
2.22

Hackney carriage and private hire drivers are professional drivers charged with the
responsibility of carrying the public. Any motoring conviction demonstrates a lack of
professionalism and will be considered seriously. It is accepted that offences can be
committed unintentionally, and a single occurrence of a minor traffic offence would not
prohibit the grant of a licence or may not result in action against an existing licence.
Subsequent convictions reinforce the fact that the licensee does not take their

86

2.23

2.24
2.25

professional responsibilities seriously and is therefore not a safe and suitable person
to be granted or retain a licence.
For licence holders who have accumulated 9 or more points on their DVLA drivers
licence they are required to pass the Council approved test. If this is not done within 6
calendar weeks of the points being imposed then the taxi drivers licence will be
suspended until the driver has successfully undertaken the test. Such testing will be at
the licence holders expense.
No driver will be allowed to hold a taxi drivers licence if they have 12 or more current
points on their DVLA licence.
In cases where the courts have imposed a disqualification in respect of a DVLA drivers
licence an application for a drivers licence will not be granted until at least 7 years
have elapsed following the reinstatement of that licence. Where a person has had more
than one period of disqualification then the application will be refused.

Drink driving/driving under the influence of drugs/using a hand‐held telephone or hand
held device whilst driving
2.26 Where an applicant has a conviction for drink driving or driving under the influence of
drugs, a licence will not be granted until at least 7 years have elapsed since the
completion of any sentence or driving ban imposed. In these circumstances, any
applicant will also have to undergo drugs testing at their own expense to demonstrate
that they are not using controlled drugs.
2.27 Where an applicant has a conviction for using a held‐hand mobile telephone or a
hand‐held device whilst driving, a licence will not be granted until at least 5 years have
elapsed since the conviction or completion of any sentence or driving ban imposed,
whichever is the later.

Other motoring offences
2.28

2.29

A minor traffic or vehicle related offence is one which does not involve loss of life,
driving under the influence of drink or drugs, driving whilst using a mobile phone, and
has not resulted in injury to any person or damage to any property (including vehicles).
Where an applicant has 7 or more points on their DVLA licence for minor traffic or
similar offences, a licence will not be granted until at least 5 years have elapsed since
the completion of any sentence imposed or the date on which the number of points on
the DVLA licence dropped below 7.
A major traffic or vehicle related offence is one which is not covered above and also
any offence which resulted in injury to any person or damage to any property (including
vehicles). It also includes driving without insurance or any offence connected with
motor insurance. Where an applicant has a conviction for a major traffic offence or
similar offence, a licence will not be granted until at least 7 years have elapsed since
the completion of any sentence imposed.

Hackney carriage and private hire offences
2.30

Where an applicant has a conviction for an offence concerned with or connected to
hackney carriage or private hire activity (excluding vehicle use), a licence will not be
granted until at least 7 years have elapsed since the completion of any sentence
imposed.

Vehicle use offences
2.31

Where an applicant has a conviction for any offence which involved the use of a vehicle
(including hackney carriages and private hire vehicles), a licence will not be granted
until at least 7 years have elapsed since the completion of any sentence imposed.

87

Private Hire Operators
2.32

2.33
2.34

2.35

A private hire operator (“an operator”) does not have direct responsibility for the safety
of passengers, other road users or direct contact with passengers who are in the
private hire vehicle (except where they are also licensed as a private hire driver).
However, in performing their duties they obtain and hold considerable amounts of
personal and private information about their passengers which must be treated in
confidence and not revealed to others, or used by the operator or their staff for criminal
or other unacceptable purposes.
As stated above, where an applicant has more than one conviction, serious
consideration will need to be given as to whether they are a safe and suitable person.
Operators must ensure that any staff that are used within the business (whether
employees or independent contractors) and are able to access any information as
described above are subject to the same standards as the operator themselves. This
can be affected by means of the individual staff member being required by the operator
to obtain a basic DBS certificate and to make a statutory declaration. If an operator is
found not to be applying the required standards and using staff that do not meet the
licensing authority’s overall criteria, that will lead to the operator’s licence being
revoked.
As public trust and confidence in the overall safety and integrity of the private hire
system is vital, the same standards will be applied to operators as those applied to
drivers, which are outlined above.

Vehicle proprietors
2.36
2.37
2.38
2.39
2.40
2.41

Vehicle proprietors (both hackney carriage and private hire) have two principal
responsibilities.
Firstly, they must ensure that the vehicle is maintained to an acceptable standard at
all times.
Secondly, they must ensure that the vehicle is not used for illegal or illicit purposes.
As stated above, where an applicant has more than one conviction, serious
consideration will need to be given as to whether they are a safe and suitable person
to be granted or retain a vehicle licence.
As public trust and confidence in the overall safety and integrity of the private hire
system is vital, the same standards will be applied to proprietors as those applied to
drivers, which are outlined above.
As public trust and confidence in the overall safety and integrity of the system of taxi
licensing is vital, the same standards will be applied to proprietors as those applied to
drivers, which are outlined above.

Acknowledgements
This policy is based on the IOL Guidance on determining the suitability of applicants and
licensees in the hackney and private hire trades released 2018. The Council would like to
acknowledge the contribution made my all those involved in creating the document which
helps Local Authorities to have robust policies in determining if people safe and suitable to
hold licences.

88

Executive Vehicles
It is not intended that a significant number of private hire vehicles should be exempt from the
council's requirement to display an external vehicle identification plate, however the council
recognises that there may be circumstances when it would be appropriate for vehicles
operating the type of service to be considered suitable for such an exemption.
The Council does not seek to provide a definite list of vehicles it considers to be suitable
(subject to use) for exemption from the requirement to display external vehicle identification
plates.
This section provides guidance to potential applicants on the standards of vehicle, comfort
and equipment that the council considers should be the minimum standard of comfort and
vehicle type before the Authority would consider such an application.
The exemption from displaying external identification plates (vehicle licence plates) may be in
respect of individual vehicles only. Applications for exemptions relating to a fleet of vehicles
will not be permitted.
Each application will be assessed on its own merit and each vehicle will be inspected by an
authorised council officer to ensure that it is fit for purpose.
The council will allow an exemption for “executive vehicles” to operate without displaying
external identification plates (private hire vehicle licence plate) and the requirement for a driver
not to wear a driver’s badge.
Applications for the exemption from the requirement to display an external identification plate
on the rear of a private hire vehicle may be considered where the following requirements are
met;
a) Vehicle models must be either four door saloons, or five door estates or five door
hatchbacks. Applications will not normally be accepted in respect of people carrier type
vehicles.
b) Vehicles must be of a standard of comfort and equipped to a level equal to or above luxury
brands of vehicles such as “S” and “E” Class Mercedes- Benz, 7 Series BMW, Lexus “GS” or
“LS” models, Audi A8 Series, Jaguar, Rolls Royce and Bentley saloons. (The highest
specification executive type cars from other manufacturers may also be considered).
c) The vehicle will be in pristine condition with no visible defects, dents or blemishes to the
external bodywork or internal trim and seating.
d) The type of work is “executive” in nature. This means that the vehicle is used specifically
and exclusively to provide transport under a written contract to a company or person, or by
the type of clients who for security or personal safety reasons would not want the vehicle to
be identifiable.
Applications may only be made by a person holding a private hire operator's licence issued by
the council.
Where an operator wishes to make an application for a vehicle to be exempt from displaying
an external identification plate they will be required to complete the appropriate application
form. The application must be accompanied by supporting documentation and a nonrefundable fee.

89

The council may require applicants to provide additional documentation as reasonably
necessary to allow the council to make an informed decision. Where such documentation is
not provided to the satisfaction of the council the application will be refused.
Where an application is granted, an exemption notice will be issued as soon as practical after
the decision is made.
Irrespective of when an exemption notice is granted the initial exemption notice will expire on
the same day as the expiration of the vehicle's current private hire licence, unless it is
otherwise surrendered or revoked. Thereafter any renewed exemption notice will last for the
same period of time as that vehicles private hire licence unless either the licence or notice is
otherwise surrendered or revoked.
Exemption notices may be renewed annually subject to the vehicle undergoing an inspection
by a licensing officer to ensure that it continues to be fit for purpose for an exemption.
Applicants have the right to appeal a decision where a grant of a notice is refused or revoked;
appeals must be in writing and will be reviewed by the licensing committee.
All vehicles granted an exemption notice must in addition to this policy also comply in
accordance with the requirements of the council’s standard private hire conditions.
Where there is any inconsistency between the standard private hire conditions and these
conditions, then these conditions shall prevail.

Executive Vehicle Conditions

a) The internal vehicle licence plate and exemption notice issued by the council in
accordance to the requirements of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions)
Act 1976 shall remain the property of the council.
b) In the event of loss or damage rendering the internal plate or notice unserviceable the
operator shall make immediate application for a replacement which a fee is payable.
c) The exemption notice issued by the council must be carried in the vehicle at all times
and must be produced upon request to an authorised officer of the council or any police
officer on request.
d) When issued an exemption notice, the vehicle will not be required to display door signs
which the council require private hire vehicles to display.
e) When issued an exemption notice a taximeter must not be installed in the vehicle.
f) The operator will not display in, on or from the vehicle any advertisement, signage,
logos or insignia advertising the operating company or the vehicle's status as a private
hire vehicle.
g) The operator will not display in, on or from the vehicle any advertisement, signage,
logos or insignia advertising third party companies, products or services.
h) During the period of the exemption notice the driver will not be required to wear a
private hire drivers badge but must have it available for immediate inspection by an
authorised officer of the council or any police officer on request.
i) During the period of exemption notice the driver of the vehicle whilst engaged on
private hire work will be smartly dressed in either a formal chauffeur’s uniform or
business suit with collar and tie. Female drivers must follow an equivalent dress code
but will not be required to wear a tie. The dress code shall be followed at all times the
vehicle is being used to undertake a booking.

90

j) The operator will notify the council immediately of any change of use of the vehicle.
k) The vehicle must not be used for private hire purposes other than for executive use
(i.e. not for “normal” airport journey’s or daily private hire use).
l) The driver and passenger front side window glass and front windscreen must be clear.
However tinted windows can be fitted to the rear side and rear window glass of the
vehicle as long as they are factory fitted, comply with current legislation and comply
with any current private hire vehicle conditions.
m) The exemption will cease to have an effect on the sale or transfer of the vehicle to
another party. The person to whom the exemption is granted must inform the council
of the sale or transfer of ownership immediately and in writing. The exemption notice
must be returned to the council along with the private hire vehicle internal licence plate.

91

Hackney Carriage Stands in Breckland

Location of Hackney
Carriage Stand
Forecourt on Thetford
Railway Station
Bridge Street Car Park,
Thetford (adjacent to the
pedestrian bridge
across the Rivers Ouse and
Thet)
Well Street, Thetford (on the
west side of
the street to the south of the
layby)

Number of Spaces

Pike Lane Car Park
Mill Lane Car Park
Quebec Street, Dereham
Queens Square,
Attleborough
High Street, Watton
Opposite Pedlars Car Park,
Swaffham

2
2
8
1

Other Comments

6
4

5

(6.00 p.m. - 1.00 a.m. only)
(6.00 p.m. - 1.00 a.m. only)

1
1

92

Approved Vehicle Testing Stations



Vickers Motors, 23 Brunel Way, Thetford IP24 1HP



Threeways Garage, Watton Road, Shipdham, IP25 7PF



T.E.S. North Tuddenham, Main Road, Tuddenham. NR20 3DE

93

CCTV specification
Should you wish to fit Audio and Visual Recording Equipment in your licensed vehicle, such a
decision will be of your own choice. We have no mandatory scheme in relation to such
equipment.
If you do fit such a system to your vehicle, you are required to notify the Council prior to
installation so that we can update our records. The information provided below is simply to
assist you should you consider fitting any system to your vehicle.

Code of Practice
Should you wish to fit such equipment, you should ensure that any system fitted to your vehicle
complies with the Information Commissioners Office "CCTV Code of Practice", which states
that:
CCTV must not be used to record conversations between members of the public as this is
highly intrusive and unlikely to be justified. You should choose a system without this facility
if possible. If your system comes equipped with a sound recording facility then you should
turn this off or disable it in some other way. There are limited circumstances in which audio
recording may be justified, subject to sufficient safeguards. These could include:
- Audio based alert systems (such as those triggered by changes in noise patterns such as
sudden shouting). Conversations must not be recorded, and operators should not listen in.
- Two-way audio feeds from 'help points' covered by CCTV cameras, where these are
activated by the person requiring assistance.
- Conversations between staff and particular individuals where a reliable record is needed
of what was said, such as in the charging area of a police custody suite
- Where recording is triggered due to a specific threat, e.g. a 'panic button' in a taxi cab.
In the limited circumstances where audio recording is justified, signs must make it very
clear that audio recording is being or may be carried out.
Transport for London have adopted the ICO’s advice in relation to audio recording in its
Guidelines for CCTV Systems in Licensed London Taxis and Private Hire Vehicles, and we
recommend that should you wish to fit such a system with audio recording enabled, that you
follow the Transport for London model which states that:
Where recording is triggered due to a specific threat, e.g. a 'panic button' is utilised. Where
this audio recording facility is utilised a reset function must be installed which automatically
disables audio recording and returns the system to normal default operation after a
specified time period has elapsed.
The time period that audio recording may be active should be the minimum possible and
should be declared at the time of submission for approval of the equipment.

94

The Information Commissioner's Office (ICO) is the official regulator for all matters relating to
the use of personal data.
The ICO defines a "data controller" as the body which has legal responsibility under the Data
Protection Act (DPA) 1998 for all matters concerning the use of personal data. For the purpose
of the installation and operation of in-vehicle CCTV, the "data controller" is the specified
company, organisation or individual which has decided to have CCTV installed. The data
controller has the final decision on how the images are stored and used and determines in
what circumstances the images should be disclosed.
Notification is the process by which a data controller informs the ICO of certain details about
their processing of personal information. These details are used to make an entry in the public
register of data controllers.
This means that any specified company, organisation or individual vehicle owner who has a
CCTV system installed in a Hackney Carriage or Private Hire vehicle must register with the
ICO (Notification) and obtain documented evidence of that registration.
The Notification requires renewal on an annual basis, and payment of the appropriate fee.
Where a service provider is used for the remote storage of CCTV data they will act as a 'data
processor'. A data processor, in relation to personal data, means any person (other than an
employee of the data controller) who processes data on behalf of the data controller, in
response to specific instructions. The data controller retains full responsibility for the actions
of the data processor.
All Taxis and Private Hire Vehicles fitted with Audio and Visual Recording Equipment must
display signage informing passengers that the vehicle is equipped with such a system. The
driver may also wish to verbally bring to the attention of the passengers that such equipment
is in operation within the vehicle, if it is felt appropriate.
The signage must be displayed in such positions so as to minimise obstruction of vision and
to make it as visible as possible to passengers, before and after entering the vehicle. In the
limited circumstance where audio recording is justified, signs must make it very clear that
audio recording is being or may be carried out. The name and the contact telephone number
of the Data Controller must be included on the sign.
Where a system is installed in order to record incidents outside the vehicle, it will not be
practical to display a sign. Instead, when the system is activated in response to an incident,
the driver of the vehicle must inform the person(s) recorded that their personal data was
captured - as soon as practicable after the incident. They should also be informed the purpose
for which the device has been installed, for example to facilitate their insurance company's
investigation of insurance claims.

95

Safeguarding
Safety, security and welfare applies to passengers and licensed drivers. Licensed drivers deal
with strangers, they work alone often late at night, carry cash and may be at risk of violence,
non-payment of fares, verbal abuse etc. Proprietors and operators must consider these factors
when determining what safeguarding measures should be in place. The council encourages
the use of CCTV in licensed vehicles, but has not made it a mandatory condition of licences
due to the financial burden involved. However, proprietors and operators should consider the
benefits and disadvantages of safeguarding measures such as, CCTV, cashless payment
systems, communication systems, etc. in licensed vehicles in their risk assessments.
Drivers and operators may refuse to carry any passenger if they have good cause, e.g. a
customer’s behaviour or demeanour is threatening, offensive or abusive or has previously
refused ‘bilked’ payment. Where this occurs drivers and operators should keep records of why
the service was refused.
Child sexual exploitation is a form of child sexual abuse. It occurs where an individual or group
takes advantage of an imbalance of power to coerce, manipulate or deceive a child or young
person under the age of 18 into sexual activity (a) in exchange for something the victim needs
or wants, and/or (b) for the financial advantage or increased status of the perpetrator or
facilitator. The victim may have been sexually exploited even if the sexual activity appears
consensual. Child sexual exploitation does not always involve physical contact; it can also
occur through the use of technology.
Licensed drivers, proprietors and operators provide a public service and have a duty of care
to all passengers. They also have a moral and social responsibility to report concerns about
someone who is vulnerable. Should a licensed driver, proprietor or operator have any
concerns about the vulnerability of a child or public safeguarding they must report this
immediately as it may prevent the vulnerable child from becoming a victim. Reports of
imminent danger should be made to the police on 999. Where there is no immediate danger,
or you wish to pass on some information or intelligence please call 101.
Driver Training

All new drivers are required to complete an approved training/awareness raising course
in relation to safeguarding children and vulnerable people. This is an approved course and
details are supplied through the Council.
The Council also requires that all existing licence holders must complete refresher training
in relation to safeguarding children and vulnerable adults. This must be completed every
3 years.

96

National Register of Taxi Licence Refusals and Revocations (NR3)
The licensing authority provides information to the National Register of Taxi Licence Refusals
and Revocations (NR3), a mechanism for licensing authorities to share details of individuals
who have had a hackney carriage or private hire driver licence revoked, or an application for
one refused. This is necessary for the performance of a task carried out in the public interest
or in the exercise of official authority vested in the licensing authority – that is, assessing
whether an individual is a fit and proper person to hold a hackney carriage or PHV licence.
Where a driver licence is revoked, or an application for one refused, the Council will
automatically record this decision on NR3.
All applications for a new driver licence or a driver licence renewal will automatically be
checked on the register. If a search of NR3 indicates a match with an applicant, the authority
will seek further information about the entry on the register from the authority which recorded
it. Any information received as a result of a register search will only be used in respect of the
specific application and will not be retained beyond the determination of that application and
for the duration of any appeal proceedings.
Any request for further information that is made from another authority will be considered on
its own merits, taking into account the data subject’s rights and the position and responsibilities
of a taxi driver.
The Council will disclose information relating to a revocation or refusal to grant a drivers’
licence in accordance with the timescales contained the Council’s Guidelines Relating to the
Relevance of Criminal convictions (see Appendix H). Where the reason for the refusal to grant
or revocation relates to a conviction which is within the timescales determined in those
guidelines, the information will be disclosed. Where the reason for refusal to grant or
revocation relates to a conviction which is outside the timescales determined in those
guidelines, the information will not be disclosed. However, in every case, consideration will
be given to the full circumstances of the decision and there may be occasions where
information is provided other than in accordance with this policy.
The Council will make and then retain a clear written record of every decision that is made as
a result of a request from another authority. This will detail:
• the date the request was received • the name or names searched • whether any information
was provided • if information was provided, why it was provided • if information was not
provided, why it was not provided, and • how and when the decision (and any information)
was communicated to the requesting authority.
If you would like to receive copies of the personal data the Council holds about you in
connection
with
licensing
services,
please
email
your
request
to
licensing.team@breckland.gov.uk

97

Breckland Council Implementation Scheme
The requirements of the Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy will have
immediate effect in relation to new applications for driver, vehicle and operator licences
(commonly referred to as grants) – unless stated otherwise below.
Whilst the council considers that it is important that the requirements contained within the new
policy are introduced as quickly as possible, it recognises that this must be done fairly and in
such a way as to minimise the impact of the changes on the licensed trade.
Therefore, in relation to existing licence holders, the requirements will be implemented
according to the scheme as outlined below.
In all cases the council will take into consideration exceptional circumstances that indicate that
deviation from the requirements is appropriate in individual cases. Such consideration will be
undertaken on a case by case basis.

Requirements in relation to Vehicles
Vehicle age and Emissions.
New Vehicle Licences
The policy has immediate effect from the 1st April 2020, in relation to vehicles that are not
licensed at the time when an application is made (commonly referred to as the ‘grant’ of a
licence). All vehicles must be less than 5 years of age from the date of registration and
Vehicles must meet one of the following emission standards:
Euro 4 emissions standards.
ULEV Petrol Hybrid Euro 5 +
Petrol Euro 5 + (Any vehicle registered from 1st Sept 2009 onwards)
Diesel Euro 6 + (Any vehicle registered from 1st Sept 2014 onwards)
PLEASE NOTE that applications for new Hackney Carriage Vehicles from 1st April
2020, must be Wheelchair Accessible Vehicles and must meet the Hackney Carriage
conditions and specification.
New Private Hire Vehicles from 1st April 2020 must meet the private hire vehicle
conditions see Appendix D and meet all of the vehicle specifications as stated within the
policy (with the exemption of stretched limousine and speciality vehicles).
Renewal of Vehicle Licences
Once licensed, the vehicle will be considered suitable for licensing until it reaches 10 years
(12 in the case of wheelchair accessible vehicles), subject to all other vehicle requirements
being met (as detailed within the policy). Vehicles in exceptional condition may be licensed
beyond the upper age limit, and meet the vehicle exceptional condition criteria.
Renewal of Vehicle Licences however must meet the criteria as stated within Appendix A
Vehicle age and emissions Standards.
From 01/12/2020 vehicle licences will not be renewed in respect of any licensed vehicle that
does not meet or exceed Euro 4 emissions standards.

98

From 01/04/2025 vehicle licences will not be renewed in respect of any licensed vehicle that
does not meet the following:
ULEV Petrol Hybrid Euro 5+
Petrol Euro 5 +
Diesel Euro 6 +
Hackney carriage vehicles on renewal can be renewed without a break in service until the age
of 10 years from the date of registration (or 12 years in the case of wheelchair accessible
vehicles), however they must meet the emissions standards.
Private Hire vehicles on renewal can be renewed without a break in service until the age of 10
years from the date of registration, however they must meet the emissions standards (with the
exemption of stretched limousine and speciality vehicles).
Requirement for drivers to subscribe to the Disclosure and Barring Service online
update service
This requirement will have immediate effect in relation to drivers and operators whose most
recent DBS certificate was printed from the implementation of this policy. Licence holders
are required to subscribe to the online service within 19 days of the date printed on their
certificate.
All current drivers/ operators, will be required to subscribe to the online service when their
licence is due for renewal.
All other requirements of the policy will take immediate effect from the date that the
policy is introduced.

99

